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Financial Summary
2006

2007

2008

2009

2010

2011

2012

2013

REVENUE

103,368

148,846

244,975

259,559

322,477

609,518

925,857

NPAT

10,327

20,167

47,095

44,308

97,185

150,493

177,077*

EPS (CPS)

9.8

16.8

38.3

35.7

68.5

89.7

96.7

97.0

DIVIDEND (CPS)

1.2

8.3

19.35

19.35

20.0

42.0

46.0

48.0

1,096,982
180,418

* normalised
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* 2012 NPAT excludes the accounting adjustment of Mineral Resources Rent Tax (MRRT) deferred tax beneﬁt
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Chairman’s
Letter

MRL was elevated to the S&P ASX100
index during the year. This represents
another milestone in the Company’s growth.

I am pleased to present the 2013 Annual Report to members.
This is my ﬁrst year as non-executive chairman of Mineral
Resources Limited (MRL), having relinquished my executive
duties in November 2012. I would therefore like to take
the opportunity to congratulate Chris Ellison on his
appointment to the role as Managing Director and for the
seamless transition that followed my retirement. Chris is an
exceptional leader and I am conﬁdent that MRL will continue
to prosper under his leadership and members can expect a
sustainable continuation of the noteworthy past performance
of the Company. I will also continue to work tirelessly to serve
shareholders and will devote my available time to developing
my new role in looking after shareholders’ interests and
managing the board process.
The Company has produced another record result for
the year with a 2% improvement in earnings1 and a
1% improvement in earnings per share achieved in a
difﬁcult year. Both mining services and mining activities
achieved their respective performance and growth targets,
substantiating the Company’s sound business model
and continuing the challenging growth objectives that
management has undertaken. This result was achieved
during a period of signiﬁcant volatility in world commodity
and currency markets, which challenged the resources
sector as a whole. Iron ore prices have ranged from
unexpected lows in the latter part of 2012 to making a strong
recovery during 2013. In addition, the Australian dollar, which
stubbornly held up above 105 cents for a good part of the
year, later eased back into the low 90 cent range.
I believe the resources sector has faced up to and
overcome the signiﬁcant challenges in the short term and
the outlook shows signs of recovery in the key regional
markets of the US and Europe, positive signals are coming
from new Chinese leadership and world equity markets are
recovering their conﬁdence, all of which augurs well for the
next business cycle.
The MRL Board still holds the strong view that iron ore
will continue to offer a stable and sustainable platform
for growth. Both our services and mining divisions have
signiﬁcant exposure to iron ore markets and we expect that
the sector will provide increasing opportunities that suit the
Company’s proven business model.

1

At a corporate level, the Company was elevated to the S&P
ASX100 index during the year. This represents another
milestone in the Company’s growth, having achieved this
in less than seven years since ﬁrst listing in 2006, which is
substantially quicker than almost all other listed companies.
Financially, the Company maintains a strong balance sheet
and growing ‘free cash’ capable of supporting the ongoing
growth and development targets for the long term. In
addition to providing a platform for growth, the ﬁnancial
performance supported our commitment to shareholders by
distributing 50% of proﬁts as dividends in FY2013.
In summary, FY2013 has been an outstanding year for MRL,
with tangible improvements in all business areas setting
the scene for continued growth in revenue, proﬁtability and
earnings per share in 2014 and beyond.
The Company is in an exciting business sector with a
substantial pipeline of contract opportunities across each of
our business segments. We will work diligently to optimise
our chances of success in both winning and undertaking
those new works as well as implement strategic actions to
add value to our clients across our range of existing Build
Own Operate (BOO) contracts.
I would like to take the opportunity to acknowledge the
contribution of all customers, employees and contractors in
supporting our activities and achieving our target of being
recognised as the contractor of choice throughout our
industry. I would also like to thank them for their assistance
in producing continued positive outcomes for the beneﬁt of
all stakeholders.
I look forward to your attendance at this year’s annual
general meeting in November 2013, where we will take
the opportunity to provide members with an update on
the business.
Yours Sincerely

Peter Wade
Chairman

2011/12 Normalised net proﬁt after tax excludes the accounting adjustment to recognise the preliminary estimate of MRRT deferred tax asset.
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Managing
Director’s Report

The Company’s number one priority
is to maintain a safe and healthy
working environment for all employees,
contractors and visitors alike.

HEALTH & SAFETY
MRL is committed to its core value of ‘Zero Harm’ and
the number one priority is to maintain a safe and healthy
working environment for all employees, contractors and
visitors alike. Through regular consultation, employees are
empowered to make health and safety practices personal,
relevant and intrinsic to Company culture.
Above all, MRL recognises that safety is about the
ability to prevent hazards and control risk. Risks are
managed through hazard identiﬁcation, monitoring and
control procedures, and by reviewing the overall safety
performance on a regular basis, determining clear
methodologies for continual improvement.

4
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Several key initiatives have commenced throughout the
period, with the appointment of a Health and Lifestyle
Coordinator to ensure that employees strive to maintain a
level of ﬁtness, wellbeing and work - life balance. Regular
“after work” sporting activities have been scheduled at site
operations, not only a way to keep ﬁt, but to forge a team
spirit amongst the workforce.

Visible Leadership, in all areas of the Company, will continue
to play an important and rewarding role to changing safe
systems of work into safe behaviours of people.
This year, the CSI Workshop in Kwinana celebrates its
fourteenth consecutive year, Loss Time Injury (LTI) free.
Few businesses in this industry have ever achieved such
a milestone.

Accountability and ownership have been the key elements
in the introduction of a well-planned and managed
housekeeping program aimed at improving operational
efﬁciency. Employees have embraced the concept of “Pride
in the Workplace,” a program which has successfully
inﬂuenced a positive cultural shift towards hazard
identiﬁcation, encouraging individuals to spot and report
potential safety hazards.
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Training results in greater
employee retention and has a
rewarding and positive impact
on the organisation.

TRAINING
The Company acknowledges that the people engaged to
supervise and manage the businesses are the leaders
of the organisation. Therefore, an investment is made to
provide these leaders with the knowledge, skills and desire
to be the best that they can and to continually improve and
provide a high level of value to the organisation.
MRL facilitates a Leadership Program aimed at line
supervisors and managers. Workshops are run to focus
on key areas such as risk management, leadership and
communication. Key senior management engages with
participants in these workshops, providing insight into
their personal growth as leaders, focussing on areas for
improvement and their expectations from future leaders
in the modern working environment.
The Company’s training methodologies provide its
workplaces with the required direction, processes and
systems to successfully achieve targeted outcomes. This
includes identiﬁcation of speciﬁc role competencies,
how to identify any gaps in competencies held, the best
methods of facilitation for these needs and then the
appropriate review processes to ensure that successful
transfers of knowledge have occurred.

6
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MRL engages with external training providers that
deliver quality nationally recognised training solutions.
These strong relationships allow to the Company to work
alongside these providers and ensure that the training
delivered is contextualised and best suited to the relevant
workforces. The Company also provides up-to-date
learning solutions to ensure that employees are safe and
competent to undertake all task assigned to them.
Training helps employees realise their full potential, it
results in greater employee retention and has a rewarding
and positive impact on the organisation.
MRL is constantly reviewing the training provided to
achieve overall, continuous improvement.

Managing
Director’s Report

As part of an overall commitment
to the community, MRL believes in
giving back to those who need it most.

COMMUNITY AND ENVIRONMENT
Maintaining a positive relationship with communities,
the environment and customers is a major key to
sustainable growth and success. The Company takes
these relationships seriously and exercises its corporate
citizenship in a positive way.

Sponsorships
As part of an overall commitment to the community, MRL
believes in giving back to those who need it most. From the
Perth metropolitan area, to the remote communities in the
North West, the Company is committing resources through
donations and sponsorships to a wide range of charitable
causes that support health, indigenous culture, education
and social services.
In 2013, MRL has been working on long term partnerships
to support non-proﬁt organisations in Western Australia.
These organisations are only a selection of the many that
provide community based services for those in need and
MRL is proud to be associated with them in a material way.
Rockingham Police & Community Youth Centres (PCYC)
With the Peel region holding signiﬁcant importance to
the Company’s operations, MRL has recently become
the principal partner of the Rockingham PCYC’s, My
Steps to Success Program. This partnership will facilitate
construction of a ‘Mineral Resources Training Centre,’
assisting young people who are historically disengaged
from traditional education or not considered ‘work ready’
to participate in a potentially life-changing experience. The
program will also help to address a local skills shortage
and lead participants toward a brighter future.

Regional Education Sponsorships
Further supporting the Peel region, MRL has partnered
with Peel District Senior High Schools, offering trade
scholarships to two students from each school, assisting
them ﬁnancially to successfully complete years eleven and
twelve. Being recognised as a scholarship recipient will give
these students extra conﬁdence and motivation to complete
their secondary studies, building their potential towards an
MRL apprenticeship.
Starlight Foundation
MRL is a major sponsor of the Starlight Wish Granting
Program in Western Australia. Recipients of the program
are referred to Starlight by health professionals and each
Starlight Wish is entirely unique and designed to give the child
something to look forward to through their toughest times.
Make-A-Wish Foundation
MRL has assisted the Make-A-Wish Foundation by becoming
a major sponsor for wish granting in Western Australia.
The partnership will ensure that many very sick children in
Western Australia will have their wishes come true.
Cerebral Palsy Foundation
MRL has pledged a donation to assist in the redevelopment
of the ‘CP Tech’ centre, at a time when the demand for these
services is growing. Increasing the programs capacity will
assist the centre to accommodate future needs.
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Youth Focus
Youth Focus operates a successful program to overcome
the issues associated with suicide, depression and selfharm. Through a sponsorship agreement with MRL, the
Company’s support will provide a direct and signiﬁcant
impact on young people and their families in Western
Australia.
FIFO Families Association
In acknowledgement of the signiﬁcant portion of ﬂy in,
ﬂy out (FIFO) workers in Western Australia, MRL has
partnered with the FIFO Families Association, ensuring
their continuous operations, growth and ability to service
families across the country. FIFO Members are currently
provided with a social support network through local
meetings, special events, website support and education.
Princess Margaret Hospital for Children
Through contribution to the Princess Margaret Hospital
Foundation, MRL has become a major partner in support
of the Regional Assistance Fund, used to assist families
living outside of the greater metropolitan area, or in remote
locations who may incur unexpected costs travelling to
Perth for assistance at PMH.

8
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Salvation Army - Kwinana Men’s Shed
MRL has invested in a community partnership to support
the Salvation Army’s, Kwinana Men’s Shed and their
Positive Lifestyle Program. The aim of this program is to
improve men’s health in the region, providing support along
with an opportunity for men to be counselled and seek
comfort with issues through a variety of social activities,
health seminars, walking groups and woodwork activities.
UWA Aspire Program
Aspire UWA was established to assist remote communities
across Western Australia, enhance prospects for students
towards a higher education. MRL is investing in the success
of Aspire UWA, enabling sustainable communities to be
built through the power of education and extending the
geographical reach of Aspire UWA to assist in bringing lifechanging opportunities to more of the State’s young people.
Parkerville Children and Youth Care
Parkerville Children and Youth Care have been assisting
vulnerable children and youth since 1907. In 2011, the
organisation opened The George Jones Child Advocacy
Centre (GJCAC), which supports the community of Armadale
and surrounding areas. The Company’s contribution will
assist with the sustainable operations of this centre.

Managing
Director’s Report

ENVIRONMENT

INDIGENOUS PROGRAM

MRL recognises the importance of developing and
administering robust environmental management
systems that ensure legislative compliance at current and
future project sites, along with managing broader impacts
on the environment.

MRL is committed to providing opportunities for Indigenous
engagement across the State. A key area of this program is
to support the ongoing employment of Indigenous people
across a range of occupations from traineeships to trades
and from administration to more specialised positions.

The Company is committed to appropriately resourcing
project teams to ensure these systems are implemented
and maintained in accordance with environmental
best practice. MRL strives to continually improve the
environmental performance of the organisation through
research and development, innovation and adaptive
management. To measure its environmental performance,
MRL engages its key stakeholders from government, the
community and other speciﬁc interest organisations to
encourage open and honest feedback.

As an overall Indigenous Engagement Strategy, the goal is
to see Indigenous communities across the State participate
at all levels within Company operations.

An environmental highlight for 2013 is the monitoring
program for the Pilbara Northern Quoll (PNQ), a threatened
species that occurs at the Poondano operations in the
Pilbara Region of Western Australia. This program has
demonstrated that the PNQ is successfully recolonising in
previously mined areas.

The Group Indigenous Facilitator works with traditional
land owners and other Indigenous communities to identify
work ready applicants and encourage them to apply for
traineeships or suitable vacancies, whilst assisting to
identify appropriate areas where entry level positions may
be developed. Through this program, there have been a
number of successful traineeships in the past year.
MRL strives to develop and retain Indigenous staff through
professional development and by creating a culturally safe
and inclusive work environment.
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PIHA

CSI CRUSHING

PIHA has again achieved signiﬁcant improvements in its
overall business operations and has seen an increasing
amount of work from the gas sector, in addition to
traditional resources and infrastructure markets. The
growing impact of the gas sector in Australia provides
another platform for PIHA to develop its existing business
model and to also take a step into service provision.

Installed crushing volumes were achieved in accordance
with the predetermined program, reaching the 130 million
tonne rate by June 2013. This is a result of bringing six
crushing contracts into operation during the period.

PIHA continues to prove that they are leading the industry
in pipeline technologies. Diversity has been the key
and PIHA has demonstrated the ability to take on more
complex projects, offering specialised turnkey solutions at
a ﬁxed price and on time delivery. In addition, full service
packages are also becoming a feature of the business.
HDPE pipe and ﬁttings are becoming the material of choice
for the Oil & Gas sectors in pipeline construction. HDPE
ﬁtting manufacturing capabilities are at the forefront of
technology to provide greater pressure requirements for
this industry where PIHA is leading the way.
PIHA has focused on expanding its already extensive
pipeline construction services capabilities to include
complete pumping and dewatering systems. PIHA’s
complete water management solution includes design,
supply, installation and commissioning of turnkey pumping
and dewatering systems. PIHA’s dewatering systems
are designed and built to meet site speciﬁc installation
requirements utilising world class, market leading brands
to ensure maximum reliability and minimum downtime.
Recent highlights of development within the business
includes PIHA signing a Framework Agreement with
major mining houses for the provision of ongoing
dewatering services in the Pilbara and dewatering
contracts including the design, supply and installation
of pit dewatering infrastructure.

10
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Client Volume Enhancement Projects
CSI designed, built, commissioned and handed over an
additional 20Mtpa of enhanced crushing capacity in FY2013
to blue chip clients. This capacity was delivered in a tight
timeframe, and across four different sites in the Pilbara.
Volume enhancement is a key strategic area for this
business as it allows the large mining houses to utilise CSI
services alongside existing plants and maximise the use
of their installed infrastructure without incurring further
capital expenditure or signiﬁcant operational costs.

CSI CONSTRUCTION
CSI continues to enhance its construction capabilities having
completed its Christmas Creek 2 plant, Phil’s Creek plant and
a series of medium capacity plants for various customers’
sites during the year, being the latest plants in a series of
major projects for the CSI construction team. Key elements
of the success of the construction program includes CSI’s
in-house design and engineering capabilities that have been
ﬁne-tuned over the last 15 years, developing plants for a range
of customer requirements and operational conﬁgurations.
CSI owns its own construction equipment which provides
it with control over the construction schedule and having
invested over 1,000,000 man hours of construction time,
the workforce, supervision and project management teams
all played an important role in the success and completion
of this extensive project execution.
Plants constructed by CSI continue to provide cutting edge
solutions in diverse mineral processing environments and
assist customers to achieve stated production outcomes in
a cost effective manner.

Managing
Director’s Report

Nammuldi Below Water Table Project
In September 2013, CSI entered into a contract, to
Engineer, Procure and Construct (EPC) Rio Tinto’s (RTIO –
ASX: RIO) ore processing facilities at the Nammuldi Below
Water Table Mine Project.
Under the contract, CSI will design and construct a plant
capable of crushing, wet screening and beneﬁciating 25
million wet feed tonnes per annum of iron ore.
Components include:
•
•
•

a remote primary crushing plant;
a 3 kilometre overland conveyor; and
a wet ore processing plant.

The EPC contracting arrangement is based upon CSI
providing a ﬁxed lump sum price to complete the ore
process facilities. The contract requires the scope of
works to be commenced immediately and CSI will deliver
the facilities for ﬁrst ore production as part of Rio Tinto’s
Pilbara expansion strategy.
This plant is speciﬁcally designed by CSI to accommodate
the characteristics of the Nammuldi below water table
resource and its general arrangement allows for the
subsequent optimisation of overall tenement production.

CSI MINING
CSI commenced its internal Mining operations over
three and half years ago, utilising CSI owned plant and
equipment. The decision to purchase mobile equipment
ﬂeet proved to be the most cost effective way to ensure
sustainability across the business and aligns well with the
CSI Crushing operations.
CSI holds the statutory positions of Quarry Manager &
Alternate Quarry Manager for all mine sites operated by MRL.
CSI Mining services comprise of:
•
•
•
•

Load and Haul, utilising 120-200T excavators and 100T
dump trucks
Drill and Blast Services
Ancillary equipment (Dozers, Graders, Water Cart) to
maintain the Open Cut Pit operation and associated roads
Manage and monitor all de-watering activities in relation
to in-pit bores, associated infrastructure, water storage
dams and ensure that the Crusher and camp have all of
their water requirements

Many of the future greenﬁeld iron ore developments in
Western Australia will be required to handle below water
table ore as the existing, long serving mine sites start to
reach the end of their commercial lives. The Nammuldi
Below Water Table Mine Project will be one of the ﬁrst of
these ‘new age’ developments
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PMI SITE SERVICES
PMI Site Services was originally established for the
provision of camp accommodation, management and
facilities for MRL operations. Today it has expanded into
the external market, constructing accommodation projects
for blue chip clients.
PMI Site Services leverages from its mining and resources
background and best practice methodologies, to provide
modern, remote village solutions for clients. Providing ﬁrst
class services to MRL operations, PMI understands better
than most, the services and facilities that are required for
modern remote mining villages.
Accommodation, transport, aerodrome and facilities
management services have proved to be successful
additions to the PMI service offering. PMI has used its
existing business model and customer base to develop this
service and a number of opportunities have been secured.
During the year, new construction and operations have
added 485 beds under management.

Food Safety
PMI Site Services incorporates Food Safety Plans as part
of its service provision, following comprehensive training,
testing and auditing. The Food Safety Program ensures all
food served on site is handled safely and effectively.

12
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Healthy Eating
The PMI Site Services team are passionate about
nutritional education through the provision of healthy food
and beverage options for all residents and employ Healthy
Lifestyle Coordinators to ensure there is facilitation of a
Healthy Eating Program.

Key accommodation projects in 2013
•

•

•

•
•

Aurora Village, in the Yilgarn Region, was completed
early February and PMI Site Services currently manage
the village operations on behalf of Polaris Metals
PMI purchased mining operations from Moly Mines
for Spinifex Ridge, managing village operations and
processing minerals
Completion of accommodation village at Phil’s Creek
with modiﬁed expansion capacity to house third party
clients as well as the Company’s employees
Jerriwah Village (under construction) with 414 rooms
for operation in the greater Brockman region
Koodaideri Fly Camp was completed in February
2013 and operated by PMI Site Services until it was
decommissioned in August 2013

Managing
Director’s Report

MINING
Commodity sales volumes are as follows:
‘000 tonnes

First Half
2011-12

Second Half
2011-12

Total
2011-12

First Half
2012-13

Second Half
2012-13

Total
2012-13

Iron Ore
Phil’s Creek
Poondano & other
Carina
Total Iron Ore

Manganese

Total commodity sales

464

464

1,190

814

2,004

1,015

386

1,401

325

1,434

1,759

1,528

2,016

3,544

1,515

2,248

3,763

2,543

2,866

5,409

187

82

269

117

30

147

1,702

2,330

4,032

2,660

2,896

5,556

Expansion of the Carina mine along with early rampup tonnes from Phil’s Creek have contributed to a 44%
increase in export tonnes. Achieved selling prices for iron
ore were down by 13% for the year, a reﬂection of the
volatile market conditions experienced in the latter part
of 2012, with an improving trend both in prices and the
weakening Australian dollar during the second half. The
achieved iron ore price in the second half was 28% greater
than the ﬁrst half, as markets emerged from the shortterm shock.

Poondano, the third operation in the Pilbara program,
continues its ramp-down as other projects come on
stream. The second half sales level of 386,000 tonnes will
continue until the resource is exhausted, providing valuable
blending material for the Company’s Pilbara blend.
Manganese markets have improved during the period.
Although limited manganese export tonnes have been
shipped, the Company is conﬁdent that the fundamentals
of this business remain positive

Mineral Resources Limited Annual Report 2013

13

FARM-IN ARRANGEMENTS

CARINA

MRL continue to apply the skills developed from the Build,
Own, Operate (BOO) business, undertaking a ‘whole mine
lifecycle’ approach, to further develop MRL owned operations
and has extended this to external tenement owners.

The Carina mine performed to expectation, increasing its
exported tonnes by 100% in FY2013. The mine is managed
on a day to day basis by CSI Mining with ore hauled from the
mine on a 50 kilometre sealed haul road to the Company
owned and operated ore processing plant. The state of the
art ore processing plant incorporates crushing, screening,
high capacity stock yards and a fully automated train loadout facility. The mine has a modern accommodation village,
with a sealed all-weather airstrip to transport staff, with a
ﬂying time of just 50 minutes from Perth.

Agreements were reached with Iron Ore Holdings (ASX:IOH)
to develop the Iron Valley resource and Moly Mines (ASX:MOL)
to complete the Spinifex Ridge project, in addition to
completing and ramping up the Phil’s Creek operations.
These projects are located in the Pilbara and will beneﬁt
from the use of common, purpose built infrastructure.
MRL will continue to develop the ‘whole mine lifecycle’
strategy as one of the key ways to grow both the
contracting and mining businesses. Leveraging from the
Company’s suite of mine development and operational
skills, it provides optimal solutions for extracting value
from otherwise stranded resources. This strategy
facilitates an increase in iron ore export tonnes and
contracting work, providing the Company a dual growth
engine for the future.

14
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During the ﬁnancial year, a total of 3.5 million tonnes of
ﬁnes ore was hauled from the Carina mine to Kwinana
Bulk Berth Terminal 2 (KBBT2), near Fremantle in Western
Australia. MRL has been working with Fremantle Ports to
lift capacity through KBBT2, which is expected to increase
shipping volumes in the coming year.
In the current business climate, the Company has worked
hard to ensure sound operating and ﬁnancial disciplines
are applied at all levels of the business. At Carina, a
range of initiatives were implemented to ensure that the
operation is run safely, efﬁciently and cost competitively.
One signiﬁcant initiative is the intended construction of a
ﬂeet of state of the art rail haulage wagons. Construction
of the new wagons will decrease the transport operating
costs signiﬁcantly and will increase rail capacity. The new
wagons will be progressively introduced during the 2014
calendar year.

Managing
Director’s Report

NEW DEVELOPMENTS & LOGISTICS

MESA MINERALS

The Pilbara logistics system has been strengthened with
mine gate sales entered into during the year with Moly
Mine’s Spinifex Ridge iron ore mine and also with Iron Ore
Holdings Iron Valley project. Products from these new
mines will be blended with the existing products from Phil’s
Creek and Poondano and exported from Port Hedland.

During the past year Mesa’s primary focus has been
on feasibility studies for commencement of the Ant Hill
manganese mine and the development of a manganese
sulphate plant in the Pilbara, utilising the Company’s
patented process technology.

EXPLORATION
Exploration activities in the Pilbara included inﬁll and
extension drilling at existing operations as well as drilling
at Weelumurra prospect which intersected signiﬁcant iron
mineralisation as previously reported.

Mesa has also been actively advancing its gold and
manganese exploration tenements, undertaking extensive
ground mapping and some limited drilling to test surface
interpretations. These programs have achieved their
objectives and will continue throughout the current
ﬁnancial year.

Resource development work in the Yilgarn region has
included inﬁll and extension drilling at Carina Extended,
Chameleon, and J4 deposits. A signiﬁcant investment has
been made in environmental surveys in this region that will
support the environmental approvals for these mines and
the larger J5 and Bungalbin East deposits.
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CORPORATE / FINANCIAL
The Company’s balance sheet remains strong, with an
increased capacity to support growth opportunities via the
acquisition of additional debt facilities. During 2013 a $508
million syndicated debt and bank guarantee package was
ﬁnalised to fund ongoing capital expenditure and to support
bonding requirements for potential EPC work.

Capital expenditure for the year was $419 million (including
leased items). Key items of CAPEX included completion
of the Christmas Creek 2 plant, establishment and
construction of the Phil’s Creek mine and construction and
establishment of plant and equipment for recently awarded
Build Own Operate (BOO) crushing and haulage contracts.

At 30th June 2013, a total of $309 million was drawn from
the new facility. A restructuring of this package has been
completed to reﬂect business conditions and opportunities
with an additional $120 million of equipment leasing
facility offset by a reduction in its bank guarantee facility
by $136 million. Total debt at 30th June 2013, was $368
million representing a 23% gearing ratio using total debt
to total capital.

The level of capital expenditure reduced in the second half
on completion of a number of these projects and although
capital expenditure will be maintained at substantial levels,
the requirements remain subject to contract wins and new
business opportunities.

16

Mineral Resources Limited Annual Report 2013

Financial Statements

Directors’ Report

18

Remuneration Report

24

Auditor’s Independence Declaration

30

Corporate Governance Statement

31

Financial Statements

35

Notes to the Financial Statements

39

Directors’ Declaration

80

Independent Auditor’s Report

81

Shareholder Information

83

CALENDAR

Date

FINAL DIVIDEND
• RECORD DATE

20 SEPTEMBER 2013

• PAYMENT DATE

25 OCTOBER 2013

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

20 NOVEMBER 2013
www.mineralresources.com.au

Mineral Resources Limited Annual Report 2013

17

For the year ended 30 June 2013

Directors’ Report

Directors’ Report
The directors present their report, together with the ﬁnancial statements and the independent auditor’s report
of Mineral Resources Limited and of the Consolidated Entity, being the Company and its controlled entities (‘the
Group’) for the year ended 30 June 2013.

DIRECTORS
The following persons were directors of Mineral Resources Limited during the whole of the ﬁnancial year and up to
the date of this report, unless otherwise stated:
Peter Wade
Chris Ellison
Joe Ricciardo
Mark Dutton
Kelvin Flynn

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
During the ﬁnancial year, the principal continuing activities of the Consolidated Entity consisted of the integrated
supply of goods and services to the resources sector.

DIVIDENDS
Dividends paid during the ﬁnancial year were as follows:

Final dividend for the year ended 30 June 2012 (2012: 30 June 2011) of 30 cents (2012: 27.0
cents) per ordinary share fully franked at a tax rate of 30% paid on 26 October 2012 (2012: 20
October 2011)
Interim dividend for the year ended 30 June 2013 (2012: 30 June 2012) of 16 cents (2012: 16
cents) per ordinary share fully franked at a tax rate of 30% paid on 11 April 2013 (2012: 5 April
2012)

30 June
2013

30 June
2012

$’000

$’000

55,457

49,647

29,764

29,552

85,221

79,199

On 15 August 2013, the directors declared a ﬁnal dividend for the year ended 30 June 2013 of 32 cents per ordinary
share to be paid on 25 October 2013, a total estimated distribution of $59,516,000 based on the number of ordinary
shares on issue as at 15 August 2013.

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS
The Consolidated Entity produced earnings before interest, tax and depreciation of $385 million for the year ended
30 June 2013, 29% greater than for the previous corresponding period. Net Proﬁt of $180.4 million was 2% greater
than for the previous corresponding period excluding the MRRT adjustment. This result was achieved on an
improvement in the business in all areas, offset by a decline in achieved iron ore prices, particularly in the ﬁrst half
of the year.
The ﬁnancial result for the period is the product of two distinct halves. Economic events, particularly affecting iron
ore markets in late 2012, put pressure on ﬁrst half results. The second half proved the strength and resilience of
Mineral Resources’ business model with the introduction of new crushing contracts and an increase in iron ore
volumes from new and existing mines. The combination of these events produced an EBITDA 65% greater than the
ﬁrst half and 63% greater than the previous corresponding half. Net proﬁt after tax for the second half was 86%
greater than the ﬁrst half.
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MINING SERVICES
Installed crushing volumes were achieved in accordance with the predetermined programme, reaching the 130
million tonne rate by June. This is a result of bringing six crushing contracts into operation during the period, the
largest being our Christmas Creek 2 operation for Fortescue Metals (ASX:FMG).
PIHA has also achieved signiﬁcant improvements in its overall business with increasing work coming from the
gas sector in addition to traditional resources and infrastructure markets. The growing impact of the gas sector in
Australia provides a signiﬁcant platform for PIHA to develop its existing business model and also take a step into
service provision across these markets.
Accommodation services have proved to be a successful addition to the product offering. The Company has used
its existing business model and customer base to develop this product and a number of opportunities have been
secured. During the year new construction and operations have added 485 beds under management.
Poondano, the third operation in the Pilbara programme, continues its ramp-down as other projects come on
stream. The second half sales level of 386,000 tonnes will continue until the resource is exhausted, providing
valuable blending material for the Company’s Pilbara blend.
The mining services segment result includes the component of iron ore sales from Poondano alongside the
contracting operations. As with other operations in the mining segment, iron ore prices were affected by pricing
changes in the period, exaggerated by a reduction in volume as a result of the ramp-down schedule at Poondano.
As a result, the overall 19% increase in proﬁt is the net result of a substantial increase in contracting earnings from
on-going and new contracts, off-set by a reduction in iron ore volume and prices for Poondano ore.

MINING
Actual commodity sales volumes are as follows:
‘000 tonnes
Iron ore
Utah Point
Phil’s Creek
Poondano & other
Total Utah Point
KBT2
Total
Manganese
Total commodity
sales

First Half
2011-12

Second Half
2011-12

Total
2011-12

First Half
2012-13

Second Half
2012-13

Total
2012-13

464
1,401
1,865
3,544
5,409

1,190
1,190
325
1,515

814
814
1,434
2,248

2,004
2,004
1,759
3,763

1,015
1,015
1,528
2,543

464
386
850
2,016
2,866

187

82

269

117

30

147

1,702

2,330

4,032

2,660

2,896

5,556

Iron ore export tonnes for the year were 44% greater than the previous corresponding period. Further expansion
of the Carina mine along with early ramp-up tonnes from Phil’s Creek have contributed to this increase. Achieved
selling prices for iron ore for the year were down by 13% on the previous corresponding period, a reﬂection of the
volatile market conditions experienced from the latter part of 2012, with an improving trend both in prices achieved
and the weakening Australian dollar during the second half. The achieved iron ore price in the second half was 28%
greater than the ﬁrst half, as markets emerged from the short-term shock.
Whilst the Consolidated Entity limited its commodity export expansion programme during the ﬁrst half in response
to the reduced iron ore pricing in anticipation of a subsequent recovery and to facilitate a re-conﬁguration of the
Pilbara operations, the programme returned to planned levels in the second half. As a consequence, the Carina
mine is currently (August 2013) operating at an annual rate of 4.6 mtpa.
The Phil’s Creek mine continues its ramp-up with 464,000 tonnes sold since commencing the project in February
2013. Completion of mine and logistics infrastructure is well advanced and scheduled for completion in quarter
2 of FY2014. Production ramp-up is continuing using a temporary transport route achieving a 2mtpa run rate in
June 2013. Completion of the construction activities will allow operations to subsequently lift output to the planned
levels. In addition, the Consolidated Entity’s commodity inventory was enhanced by the signing of agreements with
both Iron Ore Holdings (ASX:IOH) to develop its Iron Valley deposit (once formal approvals have been granted) and
Moly Mines (ASX:MOL) to operate its Spinifex Ridge mine. Both projects, located in the Pilbara region of Western
Australia, will assist to add further capacity and resource life in the region.
Pilbara Fe grades have been maintained within the target range as new operations become more prominent in the blend.
Grades at Carina have developed in accordance with the mine plan and a consistent product has now been established.
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Iron ore prices have remained volatile, although improving from the lows of late 2012. In response the Consolidated
Entity has expanded its market focus and sales system to ensure the best possible outcomes. During the year the
Consolidated Entity exported iron ore to customers in both Korea and China. In addition, development of new market
opportunities and changes to pricing methodologies within the existing portfolio is gaining momentum.
The Company continues to be of the view that iron ore offers a stable platform for growth. Both services and
mining divisions have signiﬁcant exposure to iron ore markets and we expect that the sector will provide increasing
opportunities that suit the business model.
Manganese markets have improved during the period. Although limited manganese export tonnes have been
shipped, the Company is conﬁdent that the fundamentals of this business remain positive.

CORPORATE / FINANCIAL
During the year, Mineral Resources Limited was elevated to the S&P ASX100 index. This represents another
milestone in the Company’s growth, having achieved this in less than seven years from listing, an achievement few
companies can lay claim to.
The Consolidated Entity’s balance sheet remains strong, with an increased capacity to support growth opportunities
via the acquisition of additional debt facilities. During the ﬁnancial year a $575 million syndicated debt and bank
guarantee package was ﬁnalised to fund on-going capital expenditure and to support bonding requirements for
potential EPC work. At 30 June 2013, a total of $309 million was drawn from the new facility. A restructuring of this
package is currently underway to reﬂect business conditions and opportunities. The Consolidated Entity is negotiating
an additional $120 million equipment leasing facility and has reduced its bank guarantee facility by $136 million. Total
debt at 30 June 2013 was $368 million representing a 23% gearing ratio using total debt to total capital.
Capital expenditure for the year was $419 million (including leased items). Key items of CAPEX included completion
of the Christmas Creek 2 plant, establishment and construction of the Phil’s Creek mine and construction and
establishment of plants and equipment for recently awarded Build Own Operate (BOO) crushing and haulage
contracts. The level of capital expenditure reduced in the second half on completion of a number of these projects
and, although capital expenditure will be maintained at substantial levels, the requirements remain subject to
contract wins and new business opportunities.
Cost management remains a key focus of the business. Initiatives through the period have had a positive impact on
results and will continue to provide efﬁciencies into the future. On 26 July 2013, the Company signed a purchase
agreement for 322 rail wagons for its Carina iron ore operation. Delivery of these units will provide an overall cost
saving and an increase in productivity by allowing for 150 wagon consists on the Kwinana line.

SUMMARY
Directors continue to be very positive about the Company’s medium to long term prospects for both contracting and
mining activities. An increase in the Company’s contracting activity provides conﬁdence in the outlook and supports
the on-going strength of the business model. In addition, directors remain conﬁdent that iron ore will continue to
be an attractive sector providing the requisite environment to increase shareholder value.

SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN THE STATE OF AFFAIRS
There were no signiﬁcant changes in the state of affairs of the Consolidated Entity during the ﬁnancial year.

MATTERS SUBSEQUENT TO THE END OF THE FINANCIAL YEAR
On 1 July 2013, the Company’s Mine Gate purchase agreement for the purchase of iron ore from Moly Mines
Limited’s Spinifex Ridge came into effect.
On 30 July 2013, the Company has elected a Voluntary Reduction in the guarantee facility amounting to $136,000,000
with an effective date of 6 August 2013.
No other matter or circumstance has arisen since 30 June 2013 that has signiﬁcantly affected, or may signiﬁcantly
affect the Consolidated Entity’s operations, the results of those operations, or the Consolidated Entity’s state of
affairs in future ﬁnancial years.

LIKELY DEVELOPMENTS AND EXPECTED RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
Information on likely developments in the operations of the Consolidated Entity and the expected results of
operations have not been included in this report because the directors believe it would be likely to result in
unreasonable prejudice to the Consolidated Entity.

ENVIRONMENTAL REGULATION
The Consolidated Entity is subject to and is compliant with all aspects of environmental regulation of its exploration
and mining activities. The directors are not aware of any environmental law that is not being complied with.
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Name:

Peter Wade

Title:

Non-Executive Chairman

Qualiﬁcations:

BE (Hons), LGE

Experience and expertise:

Peter has over 40 years’ experience in engineering, construction, project
management and mining and infrastructure services. He started his career with
the NSW Public Service managing the construction of signiﬁcant infrastructure
projects in NSW including the Port Kembla coal loader and the grain terminals at
Newcastle and Wollongong and was also the Deputy Director for the Darling Harbour
Redevelopment construction project. Following his period of employment with
the NSW Public Service, Peter joined the executive team of the Transﬁeld Group.
Throughout the 1980s and 1990s he was General Manager of Sabemo Pty Ltd,
Transﬁeld Construction Pty Ltd, and Transﬁeld Power Technologies and subsequently
became Transﬁeld Chief Operations Ofﬁcer (Southern). During this period Peter
was responsible for signiﬁcant build, own, operate projects including the Melbourne
City Link, the Airport Link, the Northside Storage Tunnel and the Collinsville and
Smithﬁeld Power Plants. Peter became Managing Director of Crushing Services
International Pty Ltd and PIHA Pty Ltd in 1999, and subsequently Process Minerals
International Pty Ltd in 2002 (now the wholly owned subsidiary companies of Mineral
Resources Limited) and he managed the companies through a sustained period of
growth and development prior to the formation and listing of Mineral Resources
Limited in 2006 at which time he was appointed Managing Director of the Group. He
subsequently was appointed the Executive Chairman in 2008.

Directors’ Report

INFORMATION ON DIRECTORS

Other current directorships: Non-Executive Chairman of Global Construction Services Ltd
Former directorships
(in the last 3 years):

None

Special responsibilities:

Chairman of Board of Directors, member of the Audit Committee

Interests in shares:

1,416,162

Interests in options:

None

Name:

Chris Ellison

Title:

Managing Director

Experience and expertise:

Chris is the founding shareholder of each of the three original subsidiary companies
of Mineral Resources Limited (Crushing Services International Pty Ltd, PIHA Pty
Ltd and Process Minerals International Pty Ltd) and has over 35 years experience
in the mining contracting, engineering and resource processing industries. In 1979
Chris founded Karratha Rigging and was Managing Director until its acquisition by
Walter Wright Industries in 1982. Chris was subsequently appointed as the General
Manager, Walter Wright Industries for the Western Australia and Northern Territory
regions. In 1986 Chris founded Genco Ltd and following two years of considerable
growth, Genco Ltd merged with the Monadelphous Group in 1988. In September 1988
Receivers and Managers were appointed to the Monadelphous Group. At this time,
Chris was appointed the Managing Director and under his careful management, the
group successfully traded out of its ﬁnancial difﬁculties and eventually relisted on the
ASX in late 1989. In 1992 Chris founded PIHA Pty Ltd in which the company focused
on the provision of specialised pipe lining and general infrastructure.

Other current directorships: Director of Mesa Minerals Limited
Former directorships
(in the last 3 years):

None

Special responsibilities:

Managing Director

Interests in shares:

27,038,000

Interests in options:

None
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Name:

Joe Ricciardo

Title:

Non-Executive Director

Qualiﬁcations:

Bachelor Applied Science (Mech Eng)

Experience and expertise:

Joe has over 35 years’ experience in feasibility studies, design, construction,
maintenance and operation of mineral processing facilities and associated
infrastructure. In January 1986, he became the founding member and managing
director of J R Engineering Services Pty Ltd until its acquisition by the Downer EDI/
Roche Group in 2001. Joe continued to lead the Company, Roche Mining (JR) Pty Ltd
in the capacity of general manager and director up to April 2006. During his 20 year
stewardship of JR, the Company consistently grew to become a successful and major
engineering services provider to the resources and mineral processing industry. Joe’s
experience covers the commodities of gold, nickel, copper, lead, zinc, iron ore, coal,
mineral sands, tantalum and talc for both major and junior mining companies. Joe
is currently the Executive Chairman of GR Engineering Services Limited (ASX:GNG),
a Company that he founded in October 2006 and which is a highly recognised Perth
based engineering design and construction contractor servicing the local and
international mineral processing industry.

Other current directorships: Executive Chairman of GR Engineering Services Limited (ASX:GNG)
Former directorships
(in the last 3 years):
Special responsibilities:

Member of the Audit Committee and Remuneration Committee

Interests in shares:

1,529,989

Interests in options:

None

Name:

Mark Dutton

Title:

Independent Non-Executive Director

Qualiﬁcations:

MA Cantab, ACA ICAEW

Experience and expertise:

Mark has over 17 years’ experience acting as a non-executive director of a range
of growth businesses across Europe, Asia and Australia. He started his career at
Price Waterhouse in England in 1991 where he qualiﬁed as a chartered accountant,
subsequently working in Moscow in their Corporate Finance division. Mark is a
member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of England & Wales and holds an
MA in Management Studies and Natural Sciences from the University of Cambridge,
England. Mark has worked in the private equity industry since the mid-1990s. He
started with BancBoston Capital in the UK before being appointed Managing Director
Asia-Paciﬁc. In 2003, he joined Foundation Capital in Perth to manage their later-stage
investment fund. He is presently the co-founder and a director of Banksia Capital, a
private equity manager focussed on Western Australia.

Other current directorships: None
Former directorships
(in the last 3 years):

None

Special responsibilities:

Chairman of Audit Committee, Member of the Remuneration Committee

Interests in shares:

15,000

Interests in options:

None
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Kelvin Flynn

Title:

Independent Non-Executive Director

Qualiﬁcations:

B Com, CA

Experience and expertise:

Kelvin has over 20 years of corporate experience in leadership positions in Australia
and Asia having held the position of Executive Director / Vice President with Goldman
Sachs and Managing Director of Alvarez & Marsal in Asia. Kelvin is a qualiﬁed
Chartered Accountant with experience in merchant banking and corporate advisory
including private equity and special situations investments into the mining and
resources sector. He has also worked in complex ﬁnancial workouts, turnaround
advisory and interim management. Kelvin is a director of privately held Global
Advanced Metals Pty Ltd (formerly Talison Tantalum Pty Ltd), owner of the Wodgina
mine and the world’s largest primary deposit of tantalum. Kelvin is the founder and
currently Managing Director of merchant bank and advisory ﬁrm Sirona Capital.

Directors’ Report

Name:

Other current directorships: None
Former directorships
(in the last 3 years):

Global Advanced Metals Pty Ltd

Special responsibilities:

Chairman of Remuneration Committee, Member of the Audit Committee

Interests in shares:

None

Interests in options:

None

‘Other current directorships’ quoted above are current directorships for listed entities only and excludes
directorships of all other types of entities, unless otherwise stated.
‘Former directorships (in the last 3 years)’ quoted above are directorships held in the last 3 years for listed entities
only and excludes directorships of all other types of entities, unless otherwise stated.

COMPANY SECRETARY
Bruce Goulds (BBus, Grad Dip Management, LLB (hons)) has over 30 years of ﬁnance and commercial experience
in various listed and unlisted corporations including as Commercial Manager within Brambles Industries, Financial
Controller and Company Secretary of Cockburn Corporation Limited and Commercial Manager for the Australasian
operations of international mining equipment manufacturers Svedala Industrii, Metso Minerals and Sandvik. In
2005, Bruce joined PIHA Pty Ltd, Crushing Services International Pty Ltd and Process Minerals International Pty
Ltd as Group Finance Manager. In 2006, he was appointed the inaugural CFO and Company Secretary of Minerals
Resources Limited on its listing on ASX. Bruce is a Fellow CPA, a Fellow of the Institute of Chartered Secretaries
and a Member of the Australian Institute of Company Directors.

MEETINGS OF DIRECTORS
The number of meetings of the Company’s Board of Directors (‘the Board’) and of each board committee held
during the year ended 30 June 2013, and the number of meetings attended by each director were:
Full Board

Peter Wade
Chris Ellison
Joe Ricciardo
Mark Dutton
Kelvin Flynn

Audit
Committee

Remuneration
Committee

Attended

Held

Attended

Held

Attended

Held

11
11
10
11
11

11
11
11
11
11

2
*
2
2
1

2
*
2
2
2

*
*
2
2
2

*
*
2
2
2

Held: represents the number of meetings held during the time the director held ofﬁce or was a member of the relevant committee.
*
Not a member of the committee

Other committee meetings are convened as required.
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REMUNERATION REPORT (AUDITED)
The remuneration report outlines the key management personnel remuneration arrangements (also referred to as
“Compensation”) for the Consolidated Entity, in accordance with the requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 and
its Regulations.
The remuneration report is set out under the following main headings:
A
B
C
D

Principles of Compensation
Details of remuneration
Service agreements
Share-based compensation

A

PRINCIPLES OF COMPENSATION

The objective of the Consolidated Entity’s Compensation framework is to ensure reward for performance is market
competitive and appropriate for the results delivered. The framework aligns Compensation with the achievement
of strategic objectives and the creation of shareholders value and conforms to the market practice for delivery
of Compensation. The Board of Directors (the “Board”) ensures that Compensation satisﬁes the following key
elements for good governance practices:
•
•
•
•

competitiveness and reasonableness
alignment to shareholders’ interests
performance linkage / alignment of executive compensation
transparency

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for determining and reviewing remuneration arrangements for
directors and other key management personnel. As performance of the Consolidated Entity depends on the quality
of its directors and executives, the remuneration philosophy is designed to assist to attract, motivate and retain
high performance and high quality personnel.
Competitiveness and reasonableness:
•
•

The Remuneration Committee has structured an executive remuneration framework that is market competitive
and complementary to the reward strategy of the Consolidated Entity
Committee members have evaluated the market competitive frameworks used by other ASX 100 companies
and crafted the Compensation framework to reﬂect both current market practice (where relevant) and MRL’s
particular requirements.

Alignment to shareholders’ interests:
•
•

KMPs generally have substantial shareholdings in the Company and executives are encouraged to own shares.
This is a key element of the link between performance and shareholder’s interests.
focuses on sustained growth in shareholder wealth, consisting of dividends and growth in share price, and
delivering constant or increasing return on assets as well as focusing the executive on key non-ﬁnancial
drivers of value

Alignment to program participants’ interests:
•
•
•

rewards capability and experience
reﬂects competitive reward for contribution to growth in shareholder wealth
provides a clear structure for earning rewards

In accordance with best practice corporate governance, the structure of non-executive directors and executive
remunerations are separate.

Non-executive directors remuneration
Fees and payments to non-executive directors reﬂect the demands which are made on, and the responsibilities of,
the directors. Non-executive directors’ fees and payments are reviewed annually by the Remuneration Committee.
The chairman’s fees are determined independently to the fees of other non-executive directors based on
comparative roles in the external market. The chairman is not present at any discussions relating to determination
of his own remuneration. Non-executive directors do not receive share options or other incentives.
Shareholder approval must be obtained in relation to the overall limit set for directors’ fees (currently $500,000).
The Remuneration Committee sets individual Board fees within the limit approved by shareholders. Shareholders
must separately approve the framework for any equity based compensation schemes and if a recommendation is
made for a director to participate in an equity scheme, that participation must be approved by the shareholders.
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Executive remuneration
The Consolidated Entity aims to reward executives with a level and mix of remuneration based on their position and
responsibility, which is both ﬁxed and variable.
The executive remuneration and reward framework has four components:
•
•
•
•

ﬁxed remuneration
short-term performance incentives
share-based payments
other beneﬁts

The combination of these comprises the executive’s total remuneration.

Fixed remuneration
Consisting of base salary, superannuation and non-monetary beneﬁts, are reviewed annually by the Remuneration
Committee, based on individual and business performance, the overall performance of the Consolidated Entity and
comparable market remunerations.
Executives may receive their ﬁxed remuneration in the form of cash or other fringe beneﬁts (for example motor
vehicle beneﬁts) where it does not create any additional costs to the Consolidated Entity and provides additional
value to the executive.

Consolidated Entity performance and link to remuneration
Remuneration for certain individuals is directly linked to personal performance and that of the Consolidated Entity.
A portion of bonus and incentive payments are dependent on deﬁned performance targets being met. Key business
drivers are used to determine performance targets with Company performance and safety outcomes being
threshold determinants of individual bonus payments. Bonus and incentive payments are also at the discretion of
the Remuneration Committee.
The Remuneration Committee is of the opinion that the continued improved results can be attributed in part to
the adoption of performance based compensation and is satisﬁed that this improvement will continue to increase
shareholder wealth if maintained over the coming years.

Voting and comments made at the Company’s 2012 Annual General Meeting (‘AGM’)
At the 2012 AGM, 95% of the votes received supported the adoption of the remuneration report for the year ended 30
June 2012. The Company did not receive any speciﬁc feedback at the AGM regarding its remuneration practices.

B

DETAILS OF REMUNERATION

Amounts of remuneration
Details of the remuneration of the key management personnel of Consolidated Entity are set out in the following tables.
The key management personnel of the Consolidated Entity consisted of the following directors of Mineral Resources
Limited:
•
•
•
•
•

P Wade - Non-Executive Chairman (Appointed on 16 November 2012, Resigned as Managing Director on 16
November 2012)
C Ellison - Managing Director (Appointed as Managing Director on 16 November 2012)
J Ricciardo - Non Executive Director
M Dutton - Independent Non Executive Director
K Flynn - Independent Non Executive Director

And the following persons:
•
•
•
•
•
•

B Goulds - Chief Financial Ofﬁcer and Company Secretary
J Seymour - Chief Operating Ofﬁcer (Appointed on 24 October 2012)
B Gavranich - General Manager, PIHA
S Wyatt - General Manager, Crushing Services International
D Geraghty - Technical Director
A Haslam - General Manager, Iron Ore
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Name

Cash salary
and fees

$
Non-Executive Directors:
P Wade*
367,287**
J Ricciardo
90,000
M Dutton
90,000
K Flynn
98,100

Executive Directors:
P Wade***
C Ellison

Nonmonetary

Superannuation

$

$

$

$

Sharebased
payments
Equitysettled

Total

$

$

-

-

13,542
8,100
8,100
-

-

-

380,829
98,100
98,100
98,100

-

83,377

11,458
25,000

200,413
-

-

1,096,335
933,377

36,000
34,320
70,320

9,656
56,477
83,377
29,495
16,304
278,686

25,000
11,085
25,000
25,000
25,000
25,000
202,285

64,615
265,028

-

650,000
442,282
906,477
908,377
755,110
616,316
6,983,403

Appointed as Non Executive Chairman on 16 November 2012. Represents remuneration from 16 November 2012 to 30 June 2013
Represented by director fees of $111,537 and $255,750 for technical consulting advice
Resigned as Managing Director on 16 November 2012. Represents remuneration from 1 July 2012 to 16 November 2012
Appointed on 24 October 2012

30 June 2012

Name

Short-term beneﬁts

Postemployment
beneﬁts

Long-term
beneﬁts

Sharebased
payments

Cash salary
and fees

Bonus

Nonmonetary

Superannuation

Long
service
leave

Equitysettled

Total

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

Non-Executive Directors:
J Ricciardo
M Dutton
K Flynn
R Welker *

90,000
190,000
98,100
25,961

-

-

8,100
8,100
2,336

-

-

98,100
198,100
98,100
28,297

Executive Directors:
P Wade
C Ellison

778,846
692,307

-

56,946
34,406

50,000
46,230

-

-

885,792
772,943

-

16,664
44,728
29,495
182,239

50,000
46,230
25,000
25,000
5,865
266,861

-

-

552,767
755,201
762,035
686,225
94,903
4,932,463

Other Key Management Personnel:
B Goulds
502,767
B Gavranich
692,307
S Wyatt
692,307
D Geraghty
631,730
A Haslam**
89,038
4,483,363
*
**
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Bonus and
other

884,464
825,000

Other Key Management Personnel:
B Goulds
625,000
J Seymour****
421,541
B Gavranich
825,000
S Wyatt
800,000
D Geraghty
600,000
A Haslam
540,692
6,167,084
*
**
***
****

Other
Poststatutory
employment
entitlements
beneﬁts

Short-term beneﬁts

Resigned on 7 October 2011 and remuneration is to date of resignation.
Appointed on 30 March 2012
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A Haslam, D Geraghty and J Seymour may earn a cash bonus of up to 60% of their base salary on achievement
of key performance indicators related to the performance of their duties. Key performance indicators are set on
corporate and personal achievement measures. Corporate key performance indicators of the Company ﬁnancial
performance and safety are established as threshold measures and no bonus is payable unless these are achieved.
These measures have been chosen to align personal performance to shareholders’ interests and also the
cultural priorities of the Company. Personal key performance indicators are established by the Managing Director
periodically to reﬂect operational outcomes aligned to group strategy.
The percentage cash bonus paid/payable or forfeited is determined by the proportion and weighting of the key
performance indicators achieved:
Cash bonus paid/payable
Name

30 June
2013

Other Key Management Personnel:
A Haslam
D Geraghty*
J Seymour**
*
**

40%
40%
-%

30 June
2012
-%
-%
-%

Cash bonus forfeited
30 June
2013
60%
60%
-%

30 June
2012
100%
100%
-%

Short term bonus scheme effective from 1 January 2013
Appointed on 24 October 2012. J Seymour is not entitled to a cash bonus during this ﬁnancial year.

No proportion of remuneration of directors or other key management personnel is dependent on the satisfaction of
a performance condition.

C

SERVICE AGREEMENTS

Remuneration and other terms of employment for key management personnel are formalised in service
agreements. Details of these agreements are as follows:
Name:
Title:
Agreement commenced:
Details:

Peter Wade
Non-Executive Chairman
16 November 2012
Base remuneration of $200,000 including superannuation.

Name:
Title:
Agreement commenced:
Details:

Chris Ellison
Managing Director
16 November 2012
Base salary of $850,000 including superannuation with a notice period of 6 months.

Name:
Title:
Agreement commenced:
Details:

Joe Ricciardo
Non-Executive Director
25 June 2006
Base salary of $98,100 including superannuation.

Name:
Title:
Agreement commenced:
Details:

Mark Dutton
Independent Non-Executive Director
7 November 2007
Base salary of $98,100 including superannuation.

Name:
Title:
Agreement commenced:
Details:

Kelvin Flynn
Independent Non-Executive Director
22 March 2010
Base salary of $98,100 including superannuation.

Name:
Title:
Agreement commenced:
Details:

Bruce Goulds
Chief Financial Ofﬁcer and Company Secretary
1 July 2006
Base salary of $650,000 including superannuation with a notice period of 6 months.

Name:
Title:
Agreement commenced:
Details:

Jarrod Seymour
Chief Operating Ofﬁcer
24 October 2012
Base salary of $650,000 including superannuation with a notice period of 3 months.

Name:
Title:
Agreement commenced:
Details:

Bob Gavranich
General Manager, PIHA
1 July 2006
Base salary of $850,000 including superannuation with a notice period of 6 months.
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Name:
Title:
Agreement commenced:
Details:

Steve Wyatt
General Manager, Crushing Services International
1 July 2006
Base salary of $850,000 including superannuation with a notice period of 6 months.

Name:
Title:
Agreement commenced:
Details:

David Geraghty
Technical Director
1 July 2006
Base salary of $625,000 including superannuation.

Name:
Title:
Agreement commenced:
Details:

Andrew Haslam
General Manager, Iron Ore
30 March 2012
Base salary of $597,000 including superannuation.

D

SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION

Issue of shares
There were no shares issued to directors and other key management personnel as part of compensation during the
year ended 30 June 2013.

Options
There were no options over ordinary shares issued to directors and other key management personnel as part of
compensation that were outstanding as at 30 June 2013.
There were no options over ordinary shares granted to or vested by directors and other key management personnel
as part of compensation during the year ended 30 June 2013.

This concludes the remuneration report, which has been audited.

SHARES UNDER OPTION
Unissued ordinary shares of Mineral Resources Limited under option at the date of this report are as follows:
Grant date

Expiry date

Exercise price

Number under option

1 September 2011
1 September 2012

31 August 2014
31 August 2015

$4.09
$4.13

100,000
100,000
200,000

No person entitled to exercise the options had or has any right by virtue of the option to participate in any share
issue of the Company or of any other body corporate.

Shares issued on the exercise of options
The following ordinary shares of Mineral Resources Limited were issued during the year ended 30 June 2013 and up
to the date of this report on the exercise of options granted:
Date options granted

Exercise price

Number of shares issued

15 January 2013

$2.00

540,900

INDEMNITY AND INSURANCE OF OFFICERS
The Company has indemniﬁed the directors and executives of the Company for costs incurred, in their capacity as a
director or executive, for which they may be held personally liable, except where there is a lack of good faith.
During the ﬁnancial year, the Company paid a premium in respect of a contract to insure the directors and
executives of the Company against a liability to the extent permitted by the Corporations Act 2001. The contract of
insurance prohibits disclosure of the nature of liability and the amount of the premium.

INDEMNITY AND INSURANCE OF AUDITOR
The Company has not, during or since the ﬁnancial year, indemniﬁed or agreed to indemnify the auditor of the
Company or any related entity against a liability incurred by the auditor.
During the ﬁnancial year, the Company has not paid a premium in respect of a contract to insure the auditor of the
Company or any related entity.
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PROCEEDINGS ON BEHALF OF THE COMPANY
No person has applied to the Court under section 237 of the Corporations Act 2001 for leave to bring proceedings
on behalf of the Company, or to intervene in any proceedings to which the Company is a party for the purpose of
taking responsibility on behalf of the Company for all or part of those proceedings.

NON-AUDIT SERVICES
Details of the amounts paid or payable to the auditor for non-audit services provided during the ﬁnancial year by the
auditor are outlined in note 35 to the ﬁnancial statements.
The directors are satisﬁed that the provision of non-audit services during the ﬁnancial year, by the auditor (or
by another person or ﬁrm on the auditor’s behalf), is compatible with the general standard of independence for
auditors imposed by the Corporations Act 2001.
The directors are of the opinion that the services as disclosed in note 35 to the ﬁnancial statements do not compromise
the external auditor’s independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 for the following reasons:
•
•

all non-audit services have been reviewed and approved to ensure that they do not impact the integrity and
objectivity of the auditor, and
none of the services undermine the general principles relating to auditor independence as set out in APES
110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants issued by the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards
Board, including reviewing or auditing the auditor’s own work, acting in a management or decision-making
capacity for the Company, acting as advocate for the Company or jointly sharing economic risks and rewards.

OFFICERS OF THE COMPANY WHO ARE FORMER AUDIT PARTNERS OF RSM BIRD
CAMERON PARTNERS
There are no ofﬁcers of the Company who are former audit partners of RSM Bird Cameron Partners.

ROUNDING OF AMOUNTS
The Company is of a kind referred to in Class Order 98/100, issued by the Australian Securities and Investments
Commission, relating to ‘rounding-off’. Amounts in this report have been rounded off in accordance with that Class
Order to the nearest thousand dollars, or in certain cases, the nearest dollar.

AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION
A copy of the auditor’s independence declaration as required under section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 is set
out on the following page.

AUDITOR
RSM Bird Cameron Partners continues in ofﬁce in accordance with section 327 of the Corporations Act 2001.
This report is made in accordance with a resolution of directors, pursuant to section 298(2)(a) of the Corporations
Act 2001.

On behalf of the directors
Chris Ellison
Managing Director
15 August 2013
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Statement
The Board considers it essential that directors and staff of the Company employ sound corporate governance
practices in carrying out their duties and responsibilities. Accordingly, speciﬁc corporate governance policies have
been issued to detail the expected behaviour required to ensure the Company acts with integrity and objectivity.
The Company has posted all its corporate governance policies to the Corporate Governance section of its website:
www.mineralresources.com.au.
The ASX Corporate Governance Council released the second edition of its “Good Corporate Governance Principles
and Recommendations” (“Recommendations”) in August 2007 and amended in 2010. The Board supports the thrust
of the Recommendations and whilst the Recommendations are not prescriptive, the ASX Listing Rules require listed
companies to disclose the extent to which they have followed the Recommendations in the reporting period and
identify those Recommendations that have not been followed and the reasons for not following them.

PRINCIPLE 1 - LAY SOLID FOUNDATIONS FOR MANAGEMENT AND OVERSIGHT
RECOMMENDATION 1.1 – ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES OF BOARD AND MANAGEMENT
Board responsibility

1.
2.

Corporate
Governance

The Board is responsible for guiding and monitoring the Company on behalf of shareholders. The Board has the
following overall responsibilities:
establish the direction, strategies and ﬁnancial objectives for the Company and monitoring the implementation
of those policies, strategies and ﬁnancial objectives; and
monitoring compliance with regulatory requirements and conﬁrming the culture for ethical behaviour and
standards.

Functions reserved to the Board are:
1.

appointment, evaluation, rewarding and, if necessary, removal of the Managing Director and senior
management;
2. review and approval of plans, new investments, major capital and operating expenditures, capital management,
acquisitions, divestitures and major funding activities exceeding the delegated authority of the Managing
Director;
3. establishing appropriate levels of delegation to the Managing Director to allow him to manage the business
efﬁciently;
4. monitoring actual performance against planned performance expectations;
5. ensuring that the Company is appropriately positioned to manage signiﬁcant business risks;
6. overseeing the management of safety, occupational health and environmental matters;
7. satisfying itself that the ﬁnancial reporting of the Company fairly and accurately sets out the ﬁnancial position
and ﬁnancial performance of the Company;
8. satisfying itself that there are appropriate reporting systems and controls in place to assure the Board
that proper operational, ﬁnancial, compliance, and internal control processes are in place and functioning
appropriately;
9. to ensure that appropriate internal and external audit arrangements are in place and operating effectively;
10. having a framework in place to help ensure that the Company acts legally and responsibly on all matters
consistent with the code of conduct; and
11. reporting to shareholders.

Management responsibility
The responsibility for the day-to-day operation and administration of the Company is delegated by the Board to the
Managing Director.
Whilst there is a clear division between the responsibilities of the Board and management, the Board is responsible
for ensuring that management’s objectives and activities are aligned with the expectations and risks identiﬁed by
the Board. The Board has a number of mechanisms in place to ensure this is achieved including:
1.
2.
3.

approval and monitoring of a strategic plan;
approval of annual budgets and monitoring actual performance against budget; and
procedures are in place to incorporate presentations to each Board meeting of ﬁnancial, operations, and
marketing information.
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RECOMMENDATION 1.2 – EVALUATION OF PERFORMANCE OF MANAGEMENT
Senior executives (including the managing director) have formal job descriptions and letters of appointment
describing their term in ofﬁce, duties, rights and responsibilities, and entitlements on termination.
The Board has in place a process for evaluating the performance of the Managing Director and other senior executives.

Managing Director
The Board will annually review the performance of the Managing Director. The Board and the Managing Director will
agree a set of speciﬁc performance measures to be used in the review of the forthcoming year.

Corporate
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This includes:
(a)
(b)
(c)
(d)
(e)

ﬁnancial measures of the Company’s performance;
the measure for determining achievement of key operational goals and strategic objectives;
development of management and staff;
compliance with legal and Company policy requirements; and
achievement of other key performance indicators.

Senior executives
The Managing Director is responsible for assessing the performance of the key executives.

RECOMMENDATION 1.3 – COMPLIANCE
The Company complies with Recommendations 1.1, 1.2 and 1.3.
Performance evaluations have taken place in the reporting period in accordance with the processes determined by
the Board.

PRINCIPLE 2 – STRUCTURE THE BOARD TO ADD VALUE
RECOMMENDATION 2.1 - MAJORITY OF BOARD SHOULD BE INDEPENDENT DIRECTORS
Messrs Dutton and Flynn satisfy the tests of the Recommendations and are considered independent. Mr Flynn is
associated with a customer of the Company. His association with this customer is as an independent non-executive
director. This association is not considered to detract from Mr Flynn’s independence.
The overall composition of the Board is considered by Directors to be the most appropriate structure, created after
due consideration of the strategy of the Company, to effectively discharge the duties imposed by law, and adds value
in a way that is appropriate to the Company’s circumstances.
Each director’s skills, experience and expertise relevant to the position of director, and period of ofﬁce of each
director in ofﬁce at the date of the annual report, is contained in the Directors’ Report.
Each director has the right to seek independent professional advice on matters relating to their position as a
director of the Company at the Company’s expense.

RECOMMENDATION 2.2– INDEPENDENT CHAIRMAN
The Chairman of the Company, Peter Wade, is considered not to be independent. During the reporting period Mr
Wade relinquished the dual roles of Executive Chairman / Managing Director. This new board structure was created
after due consideration to the strategy of the Company. The Board considers Mr Wade the best person to lead the
Board at this time, drawing on his experience and previous leadership role of the Company.

RECOMMENDATION 2.3 –CHAIRMAN AND MANAGING DIRECTOR
The roles of Chairman and Managing Director were separated during the reporting period. The Chairman of the
Company, Mr Peter Wade, previously also held the position of Managing Director. On 16 November 2012 Mr Wade
relinquished this dual role with the appointment of Mr Chris Ellison to the position of Managing Director.
The Board has agreed the division of responsibilities between the Chairman and Managing Director.

RECOMMENDATION 2.4 - NOMINATION COMMITTEE
The Board has an established nomination committee. The Company has posted the committees charter to the
Corporate Governance section of its website: www.mineralresources.com.au.

Composition
The Committee has three directors, the majority of whom are non-executive directors. Mr Flynn, an independent
non-executive director, is the Committee Chairman. Membership of the nomination committee is included in the
Directors’ Report.
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RECOMMENDATION 2.5 – BOARD PERFORMANCE EVALUATION PROCESS
As part of the annual review of the performance of the Board, the appropriate size, composition and terms and
conditions of appointment to and retirement from the Board are considered. The Board also reviews the appropriate
criteria for board membership collectively.
The Board has established formal processes to review its own performance and the performance of individual
directors (including the Managing Director) and the Committees of the Board, annually.
The Board is required to meet annually with the speciﬁc purpose of reviewing the role of the Board, assessing its
performance over the previous 12 months and examining ways in which the Board can better perform its duties. The
review incorporates the performance of the Board.
The annual review includes consideration of the following measures:

Corporate
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(f) comparison of the performance of the Board against the requirements of the Board Charter;
(g) assessment of the performance of the Board over the previous twelve months having regard to the corporate
strategies, operating plans and the annual budget;
(h) review the Board’s interaction with management;
(i) identiﬁcation of any particular goals and objectives of the Board for the next year;
(j) review the type and timing of information provided to the directors; and
(k) identiﬁcation of any necessary or desirable improvements to board or committee charters.

Non-executive directors
The Chairman will have primary responsibility for conducting performance appraisals of non-executive directors in
conjunction with them, having particular regard to:
(a)
(b)
(c)
(d)
(e)
(f)

contribution to board discussion and function;
degree of independence including relevance of any conﬂicts of interest;
availability for and attendance at board meetings and other relevant events;
contribution to Company strategy;
membership of and contribution to any board committees; and
suitability to board structure and composition.

Where the Chairman, following a performance appraisal, considers that action must be taken in relation to a
director’s performance, the Chairman must consult with the remainder of the Board regarding whether a director
should be counselled to resign, not seek re-election, or in exceptional circumstances, whether a resolution for the
removal of a director be put to shareholders.
A performance evaluation for the board, its committees and directors has been undertaken during the reporting period.

PRINCIPLE 3 – PROMOTE ETHICAL AND RESPONSIBLE DECISION-MAKING
RECOMMENDATION 3.1 – CODE OF CONDUCT
The policies on this principle are disclosed on the Company’s website.

RECOMMENDATION 3.2, 3.3, AND 3.4 - DIVERSITY
The Board has in place policies for the recruitment of the most suitable person for roles within the Company
providing diversity of employment opportunities for, but not limited to, gender, age, ethnicity and cultural
background for all Company roles. In respect of gender diversity, the Company has not determined a target
proportion of appointments but relies on the requirement of “most suitable person for roles” as the overarching
selection criteria for personnel.
As at the balance date, 11% (2012: 9% ) of employees of the Company were females and two women function in
senior executive positions. There are no women currently serving on the Company’s board.

PRINCIPLE 4 – SAFEGUARD INTEGRITY IN FINANCIAL REPORTING
RECOMMENDATION 4.1 – AUDIT COMMITTEE
Scope
The Audit Committee is a committee of the Board with the speciﬁc powers delegated by the Board. The charter of
the Audit Committee’s function, composition, mode of operation, authority and responsibilities is set out on the
Company’s website: www.mineralresources.com.au.

RECOMMENDATION 4.2 AND 4.3 – AUDIT COMMITTEE MEMBERSHIP AND COMPOSITION
The audit committee is chaired by Mark Dutton, an independent director who is not the Chair of the Company,
consists of a majority of independent directors and has at least three members.
Disclosure of the names, qualiﬁcations and attendance at audit committee meetings is included in the directors Report.
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PRINCIPLE 5 – MAKE TIMELY AND BALANCED DISCLOSURE
The policies on this principle are disclosed on the Company’s website: www.mineralresources.com.au.

PRINCIPLE 6 – RESPECT THE RIGHTS OF SHAREHOLDERS
RECOMMENDATION 6.1 – SHAREHOLDER COMMUNICATION
The Company recognises the value of providing current and relevant information to its shareholders.
The Company Secretary has the primary responsibility for communication with shareholders.
The Company is committed to the promotion of investor conﬁdence by ensuring that trading in the Company’s
securities takes place in an efﬁcient, competitive and informed market.

Corporate
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Electronic communication and web-site
The Company’s web-site will be updated with material released to the ASX as soon as practicable after
conﬁrmation of release by the ASX.
All web-site information will be continuously reviewed and updated to ensure that information is current, or
appropriately dated and archived.
The Company places the full text of notices of meeting and explanatory material on the web-site.

PRINCIPLE 7 – RECOGNISE AND MANAGE RISK
RECOMMENDATION 7.1 AND 7.2 – RISK MANAGEMENT
The responsibility for undertaking and assessing risk management and internal control effectiveness is delegated
to management. Management is required by the Board to report back on the efﬁciency and effectiveness of risk
management. The Board discuss risk management issues with management on an ongoing basis.
Management is responsible for the ongoing management of risk with standing instructions to apprise the Board of
changing circumstances within the Company and within the international business environment.

RECOMMENDATION 7.3 - ASSURANCE FROM CEO AND CFO
Management sign-off procedure
The Audit Committee will ensure that the Managing Director and Chief Financial Ofﬁcer prepare a written statement
to the Board certifying that the Company’s annual ﬁnancial report and half yearly ﬁnancial report present a true and
fair view, in all material respects, of the ﬁnancial condition of the Company and its operational performance and are
in accordance with relevant accounting standards.
The statement is to be presented to the Board prior to the approval and sign-off of the respective annual and half
yearly ﬁnancial reports. Assurance from the CEO / CFO is founded on a sound system of risk management and
internal control and the system is considered to operate effectively in all material respects in relation to reporting
ﬁnancial risk.

PRINCIPLE 8 – REMUNERATE FAIRLY AND RESPONSIBLY
RECOMMENDATION 8.1, 8.2, AND 8.3 – REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
The Board has established a Remuneration Committee. Composition of the Committee comprises at least three
directors, the majority of whom are non-executive directors, one of whom will be appointed the Committee
Chairman.
The charter of the Committee and its functions and responsibilities are posted on the Company’s website:
www.mineralresources.com.au.
The Committee is currently chaired by Kelvin Flynn, an independent non-executive director, and members are Joe
Ricciardo and Mark Dutton.

Non-executive remuneration
Non-executive directors are entitled to receive statutory superannuation beneﬁts. No other post-employment
beneﬁts are provided to non-executive directors as at the date of this report.
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Other Comprehensive Income
Consolidated

Revenue
Other income

30 June 2013
$’000

30 June 2012
$’000

5
6

1,096,982
8,353

925,857
13,056

6,137
(145,659)
(45,981)
(132,124)
(159,690)
(191,569)
(127,058)
(53,319)
(5,550)
250,522
(70,104)

48,348
(231,930)
(37,708)
(115,412)
(113,595)
(151,761)
(68,722)
(2,474)
(35,022)
(6,437)
224,200
(47,123)

180,418
180,418

177,077
65,162
242,239

(31)
(31)

1,085
1,085

180,387

243,324

(877)
181,295
180,418

35
242,204
242,239

180,387
180,387

35
243,289
243,324

Cents

Cents

7

7
8

8

Other comprehensive income
Items that will not be reclassiﬁed subsequently to proﬁt or loss
Net change in asset revaluation reserve
Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax
Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to the owners of
Mineral Resources Limited
Proﬁt for the year is attributable to:
Non-controlling interest
Owners of Mineral Resources Limited

30

Total comprehensive income for the year is attributable to:
Non-controlling interest
Owners of Mineral Resources Limited

Basic earnings per share
Diluted earnings per share

45
45

97.48
97.37

Financial
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Expenses
Changes in closing stock
Raw materials and consumables
Equipment costs
Subcontractors
Employee beneﬁts expense
Transport and freight
Depreciation and amortisation
Impairment losses
Other expenses
Finance costs
Proﬁt before income tax (expense)/beneﬁt
Income tax expense
Proﬁt before Mineral Resources Rent Tax (“MRRT”) tax beneﬁt
and after Income tax expense
Tax beneﬁt arising on introduction of MRRT
Proﬁt for the year

Note

132.29
131.06

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the Statement of proﬁt or loss and other comprehensive income.
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Statement of Financial Position
Consolidated

Assets
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables
Inventories
Financial assets at fair value through proﬁt or loss
Other
Total current assets

Financial
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Non-current assets
Receivables
Investments accounted for using the equity method
Available-for-sale ﬁnancial assets
Property, plant and equipment
Intangibles
Exploration and evaluation & development
Deferred tax
Total non-current assets

Note

30 June 2013
$’000

30 June 2012
$’000

9
10
11
12
13

57,832
196,943
75,689
5,896
336,360

76,282
141,900
67,121
5
1,771
287,079

14
15
16
17
18
19
20

113
190
2,712
905,011
72,849
403,868
83,330
1,468,073

3,298
190
1,391
584,148
76,029
400,090
83,704
1,148,850

1,804,433

1,435,929

21
22
23
24
25

203,095
80,376
387
6,635
16,397
306,890

162,374
34,754
4,985
13,628
215,741

26
27
28

287,742
179,338
12,723
479,803

152,321
141,762
9,354
303,437

786,693

519,178

1,017,740

916,751

490,562
5,981
501,183
997,726
20,014

484,739
6,012
405,109
895,860
20,891

1,017,740

916,751

Total assets
Liabilities
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Borrowings
Financial liabilities value at fair through proﬁt or loss
Income tax
Provisions
Total current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Borrowings
Deferred tax
Provisions
Total non-current liabilities
Total liabilities
Net assets
Equity
Issued capital
Reserves
Retained proﬁts
Equity attributable to the owners of Mineral Resources Limited
Non-controlling interest

29
30
31

Total equity

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the Statement of ﬁnancial position.
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Statement of Changes in Equity
Consolidated

Balance at 1 July 2011

Issued
capital
$’000

359,619

Reserves
$’000

Retained
proﬁts
$’000

Noncontrolling
interest
$’000

Total
equity
$’000

4,927

242,104

20,856

627,506

-

242,204

35

242,239

-

1,085

-

-

1,085

Total comprehensive income for the year

-

1,085

242,204

35

243,324

63,330
7,246
(1,193)

-

-

-

63,330
7,246
(1,193)

55,737

6,012

(79,199)
405,109

20,891

55,737
(79,199)
916,751

Transactions with owners in their capacity as
owners:
Shares issued on exercise of options
Net proceeds from share issues
Employee share trust contributions
Shares issued in consideration for acceptance of
the off market takeover bid for Auvex Resources
Limited
Dividends paid (note 32)
Balance at 30 June 2012
Consolidated

Balance at 1 July 2012

484,739
Issued
capital
$’000

484,739

Reserves
$’000

Retained
proﬁts
$’000

Noncontrolling
interest
$’000

Total
equity
$’000

6,012

405,109

20,891

916,751

-

181,295

(877)

180,418

Proﬁt/(loss) after income tax (expense)/beneﬁt for
the year
Other comprehensive income for the year, net of
tax

-

(31)

-

-

(31)

Total comprehensive income for the year

-

(31)

181,295

(877)

180,387

1,203
5,005
(385)

5,981

(85,221)
501,183

20,014

1,203
5,005
(385)
(85,221)
1,017,740

Transactions with owners in their capacity as
owners:
Shares issued on exercise of options
Share issued under Dividend Reinvestment Plan
Employee share trust contributions
Dividends paid (note 32)
Balance at 30 June 2013

490,562

Financial
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Proﬁt after income tax (expense)/beneﬁt for the
year
Other comprehensive income for the year, net of
tax

Asset revaluation reserve
The asset revaluation reserve records the revaluations of tracked plant and equipment.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the Consolidated statement of changes in equity.
Mineral Resources Limited Annual Report 2013

37

For the year ended 30 June 2013

Statement of Cash Flows
Consolidated
Note

30 June 2013
$’000

30 June 2012
$’000

1,103,573
(746,578)
356,995
8,353
(5,163)
(30,921)
329,264

894,941
(602,696)
292,245
5,046
(6,437)
(47,961)
242,893

(2,336)
(387,102)
(15,863)
(14,074)
(419,375)

(972)
235
(277,845)
(33,632)
(54,885)
(15,429)
3,347
(379,181)

Cash ﬂows from ﬁnancing activities
Proceeds from issue of shares
Proceeds from exercise of share options
Proceeds from borrowings
Dividends paid
Repayment of borrowings
Net cash from ﬁnancing activities

1,203
222,586
(80,216)
(71,912)
71,661

3,344
63,330
63,839
(75,299)
(23,100)
32,114

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the ﬁnancial year
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the ﬁnancial year

(18,450)
76,282
57,832

(104,174)
180,456
76,282

Cash ﬂows from operating activities
Receipts from customers (inclusive of GST)
Payments to suppliers and employees (inclusive of GST)
Other revenue
Interest and other ﬁnance costs paid
Income taxes paid
Net cash from operating activities

43
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Cash ﬂows from investing activities
Payment for investments
Payment for purchase of subsidiary, net of cash acquired
Payments for property, plant and equipment
Payments for intangibles
Payments for exploration and evaluation
Payments for mining development
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment
Net cash used in investing activities

9

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the Statement of cash ﬂows.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
NOTE 1. GENERAL INFORMATION
The ﬁnancial report covers Mineral Resources Limited as a Consolidated Entity consisting of Mineral Resources
Limited and the entities it controlled. The ﬁnancial report is presented in Australian dollars, which is Mineral
Resources Limited’s functional and presentation currency.
The ﬁnancial report consists of the ﬁnancial statements, notes to the ﬁnancial statements and the directors’ declaration.
Mineral Resources Limited is a listed public company limited by shares, incorporated and domiciled in Australia. Its
registered ofﬁce and principal place of business is:
1 Sleat Road
Applecross WA 6153
A description of the nature of the Consolidated Entity’s operations and its principal activities are included in the
directors’ report, which is not part of the ﬁnancial report.
The ﬁnancial report was authorised for issue, in accordance with a resolution of directors, on 15 August 2013. The
directors do not have the power to amend and reissue the ﬁnancial report.
The separate ﬁnancial statements of the Parent Entity, Mineral Resources Limited, have not been presented within
this ﬁnancial report as permitted by the Corporations Act 2001.

NOTE 2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the ﬁnancial statements are set out below. These
policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

NEW, REVISED OR AMENDING ACCOUNTING STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS ADOPTED
The Consolidated Entity has adopted all of the new, revised or amending Accounting Standards and Interpretations
issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board (‘AASB’) that are mandatory for the current reporting period.
Any new, revised or amending Accounting Standards or Interpretations that are not yet mandatory have not been
early adopted.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

Notes to the
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These general purpose ﬁnancial statements have been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting
Standards and Interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board (‘AASB’) and the Corporations
Act 2001, as appropriate for for-proﬁt oriented entities. These ﬁnancial statements also comply with International
Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (‘IASB’).

Historical cost convention
The ﬁnancial statements have been prepared on accruals basis and is based on historical costs, modiﬁed, where
applicable, by the measurement at fair value of selected non-current assets, ﬁnancial assets and ﬁnancial
liabilities.

Critical accounting estimates
The preparation of the ﬁnancial statements requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also
requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Consolidated Entity’s accounting
policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and
estimates are signiﬁcant to the ﬁnancial statements, are disclosed in note 3.

PARENT ENTITY INFORMATION
In accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, these ﬁnancial statements present the results of the Consolidated
Entity only. Supplementary information about the Parent Entity is disclosed in note 39.

PRINCIPLES OF CONSOLIDATION
The consolidated ﬁnancial statements incorporate the assets and liabilities of all subsidiaries of Mineral Resources
Limited (‘Company’ or ‘Parent Entity’) as at 30 June 2013 and the results of all subsidiaries for the year then
ended. Mineral Resources Limited and its subsidiaries together are referred to in these ﬁnancial statements as the
‘Consolidated Entity’.
Subsidiaries are all those entities over which the Consolidated Entity has the power to govern the ﬁnancial and
operating policies, generally accompanying a shareholding of more than one-half of the voting rights. The effects
of potential exercisable voting rights are considered when assessing whether control exists. Subsidiaries are fully
consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Consolidated Entity. They are de-consolidated from
the date that control ceases.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
NOTE 2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between entities in the Consolidated
Entity are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of the
impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to
ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Consolidated Entity.
The acquisition of subsidiaries is accounted for using the acquisition method of accounting. Refer to the ‘business
combinations’ accounting policy for further details. A change in ownership interest, without the loss of control, is
accounted for as an equity transaction, where the difference between the consideration transferred and the book
value of the share of the non-controlling interest acquired is recognised directly in equity attributable to the parent.
Non-controlling interest in the results and equity of subsidiaries are shown separately in the statement of proﬁt or
loss and other comprehensive income, statement of ﬁnancial position and statement of changes in equity of the
Consolidated Entity. Losses incurred by the Consolidated Entity are attributed to the non-controlling interest in full,
even if that results in a deﬁcit balance.
Where the Consolidated Entity loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the assets including goodwill,
liabilities and non-controlling interest in the subsidiary together with any cumulative translation differences
recognised in equity. The Consolidated Entity recognises the fair value of the consideration received and the fair
value of any investment retained together with any gain or loss in proﬁt or loss.

OPERATING SEGMENTS
Operating segments are presented using the ‘management approach’, where the information presented is on
the same basis as the internal reports provided to the Chief Operating Decision Makers (‘CODM’). The CODM is
responsible for the allocation of resources to operating segments and assessing their performance.

REVENUE RECOGNITION

Notes to the
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Revenue - goods sold
Revenue from the sale of goods and disposal of other assets is recognised when persuasive evidence, usually in
the form of an executed sales agreement, or an arrangement exists, indicating there has been a transfer of risks
and rewards to the customer, no further work or processing is required by the Consolidated Entity, the quantity
and quality of the goods has been determined with reasonable accuracy, the price is ﬁxed or determinable, and
collectability is reasonably assured. This is generally when title passes. The majority of the Consolidated Entity’s
sales agreements specify that title passes when the product is delivered to the destination speciﬁed by the
customer, which is typically the vessel on which the product will be shipped. In practical terms, revenue is generally
recognised on the bill of lading date, which is the date the commodity is delivered to the shipping agent. These
sales agreements also allow for an adjustment to the sales price based on a survey of the goods by the customer
(an assay for mineral content); therefore recognition of the sales revenue is based on the most recently determined
estimate of product speciﬁcations.

Services rendered
Revenue from services rendered is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income in proportion to the stage of
completion of the transaction at the reporting date. The stage of completion is assessed by reference to work performed.
No revenue is recognised if there are signiﬁcant uncertainties regarding recovery of the consideration due or if the
costs incurred or to be incurred cannot be measured reliably.

Construction contracts
Contract revenue and expenses are generally recognised on an individual contract basis using percentage of
completion method when the stage or contract completion can be reliably determined, costs to date can be clearly
identiﬁed, and total contract revenue and costs to complete can be reliably estimated. Two or more contracts are
treated as a single contract where the contracts are negotiated as a single package, are closely interrelated and
are performed concurrently or in a continuous sequence.
Proﬁt recognition for lump sum ﬁxed price contracts does not commence until cost to completion can be reliably measured.
Stage of contract completion is generally measured by reference to physical completion. An assessment of total
labour hours and other costs incurred to date as a percentage of estimated total costs for each contract is used if it
is an appropriate proxy for physical completion. Task-lists, milestones, etc. are also used to calculate or conﬁrm the
percentage of completion if appropriate.
Where the outcome of a contract cannot be reliably estimated, contract costs are expensed as incurred. Where it is
probable that the costs will be recovered, revenue is recognised to the extent of costs incurred. An expected loss is
recognised immediately as an expense.
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NOTE 2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
REVENUE RECOGNITION (CONTINUED)
Interest revenue
Interest revenue is recognised on a proportional basis taking into account the interest rates applicable to the
ﬁnancial assets.

Other revenue
Other revenue is recognised when it is received or when the right to receive payment is established.

INCOME TAX
The income tax expense or beneﬁt for the period is the tax payable on that period’s taxable income based on the
applicable income tax rate for each jurisdiction, adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable
to temporary differences, unused tax losses and the adjustment recognised for prior periods, where applicable.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised for temporary differences at the tax rates expected to apply
when the assets are recovered or liabilities are settled, based on those tax rates that are enacted or substantively
enacted, except for:
•

•

When the deferred income tax asset or liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or
liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and that, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting nor taxable proﬁts; or
When the taxable temporary difference is associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates or interests in
joint ventures, and the timing of the reversal can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary difference
will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses only if it is probable
that future taxable amounts will be available to utilise those temporary differences and losses.
The carrying amount of recognised and unrecognised deferred tax assets are reviewed each reporting date.
Deferred tax assets recognised are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that future taxable proﬁts will
be available for the carrying amount to be recovered. Previously unrecognised deferred tax assets are recognised to
the extent that it is probable that there are future taxable proﬁts available to recover the asset.
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Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only where there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and deferred tax assets against deferred tax liabilities; and they relate to the same
taxable authority on either the same taxable entity or different taxable entity’s which intend to settle simultaneously.

Tax Consolidation
Mineral Resources Limited (the “Head Entity”) and its wholly-owned Australian controlled entities have formed an
income tax consolidated group under the tax consolidation regime. The head entity and the controlled entities in the
tax consolidated group continue to account for their own current and deferred tax amounts. The tax consolidated
group has applied the ‘stand alone taxpayer’ approach in determining the appropriate amount of taxes to allocate to
members of the tax consolidated group.
In addition to its own current and deferred tax amounts, the head entity also recognises the current tax liabilities (or
assets) and the deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses and unused tax credits assumed from controlled
entities in the tax consolidated group.
Assets or liabilities arising under tax funding agreements with the tax consolidated entities are recognised as
amounts receivable from or payable to other entities in the tax consolidated group. The tax funding arrangement
ensures that the interCompany charge equals the current tax liability or beneﬁt of each tax consolidated group
member, resulting in neither a contribution by the head entity to the subsidiaries nor a distribution by the
subsidiaries to the head entity.

Mineral Resource Rent Tax
Mineral Resource Rent Tax (“MRRT”) is an additional tax on proﬁts from the mining of iron ore and coal in Australia,
and came into effect on 1st July 2012. In determining MRRT payable, a deduction (MRRT Starting Base Allowance)
is provided for the value of mining assets at 1 May 2010 plus eligible expenditure to 30 June 2012. An election is
able to be made to value the mining assets at 1 May 2010 at either market value or cost. The Consolidated Entity
has elected to use market value.
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NOTE 2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits held at call with ﬁnancial institutions, other short-term,
highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to known
amounts of cash and which are subject to an insigniﬁcant risk of changes in value.
Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Consolidated Entity’s cash management
are included as a component of cash and cash equivalents for the purpose of the statement of cash ﬂows.

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
Trade receivables are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method, less any provision for impairment. Receivables expected to be collected within 12 months of the end of the
reporting period are classiﬁed as current assets. All other receivables are classiﬁed as non-current assets.
Collectability of trade receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis. Debts which are known to be uncollectable are
written off by reducing the carrying amount directly. A provision for impairment of trade receivables is raised when
there is objective evidence that the Consolidated Entity will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the
original terms of the receivables. Signiﬁcant ﬁnancial difﬁculties of the debtor, probability that the debtor will enter
bankruptcy or ﬁnancial reorganisation and default or delinquency in payments are considered indicators that the
trade receivable may be impaired. The amount of the impairment allowance is the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash ﬂows, discounted at the original effective interest
rate. Cash ﬂows relating to short-term receivables are not discounted if the effect of discounting is immaterial.
Other receivables are recognised at amortised cost, less any provision for impairment.
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INVENTORIES
Raw materials, work in progress and ﬁnished goods are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value on a
‘ﬁrst in ﬁrst out’ basis. Cost comprises direct materials and delivery costs, direct labour, import duties and other
taxes, an appropriate proportion of variable and ﬁxed overhead expenditure based on normal operating capacity,
and, where applicable, transfers from cash ﬂow hedging reserves in equity, with the exception of contract speciﬁc
requirements to use an average cost basis. Costs of purchased inventory are determined after deducting rebates
and discounts received or receivable.
Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of
completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

Construction work in progress
Construction work in progress is valued at cost, plus proﬁt recognised to date less any provision for anticipated
future losses. Cost includes both variable and ﬁxed costs relating to speciﬁc contracts, and those costs that are
attributable to the contract activity in general and that can be allocated on a reasonable basis.
Construction proﬁts are recognised on the stage of completion basis and measured using the proportion of costs
incurred to date as compared to expected actual costs. Where losses are anticipated they are provided for in full.
Construction revenue has been recognised on the basis of the terms of the contract adjusted for any variations or
claims allowable under the contract.

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently
remeasured to their fair value at each reporting date. The accounting for subsequent changes in fair value depends
on whether the derivative is designated as a hedging instrument, and if so, the nature of the item being hedged.
Derivatives are classiﬁed as current or non-current depending on the expected period of realisation.

ASSOCIATES
Associates are entities over which the Consolidated Entity has signiﬁcant inﬂuence but not control or joint control.
Investments in associates are accounted for using the equity method. Under the equity method, the share of
the proﬁts or losses of the associate is recognised in proﬁt or loss and the share of the movements in equity is
recognised in other comprehensive income. Investments in associates are carried in the statement of ﬁnancial
position at cost plus post-acquisition changes in the Consolidated Entity’s share of net assets of the associates.
Dividends received or receivable from associates reduce the carrying amount of the investment.
When the Consolidated Entity’s share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its interest in the associate,
including any unsecured long-term receivables, the Consolidated Entity does not recognise further losses, unless it
has incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate.
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NOTE 2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
INVESTMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS
Investments and other ﬁnancial assets are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs are included as part
of the initial measurement, except for ﬁnancial assets at fair value through proﬁt or loss. They are subsequently
measured at either amortised cost or fair value depending on their classiﬁcation. Classiﬁcation is determined based
on the purpose of the acquisition and subsequent reclassiﬁcation to other categories is restricted. The fair values of
quoted investments are based on current bid prices. For unlisted investments, the Consolidated Entity establishes
fair value by using valuation techniques. These include the use of recent arm’s length transactions, reference to
other instruments that are substantially the same, discounted cash ﬂow analysis, and option pricing models.
Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash ﬂows from the ﬁnancial assets have expired or have
been transferred and the Consolidated Entity has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership.

Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative ﬁnancial assets with ﬁxed or determinable payments that are not quoted
in an active market. They are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. Gains and losses
are recognised in proﬁt or loss when the asset is derecognised or impaired.

Financial assets at fair value through proﬁt or loss
Financial assets at fair value through proﬁt or loss are either: i) held for trading, where they are acquired for the
purpose of selling in the short-term with an intention of making a proﬁt; or ii) designated as such upon initial
recognition, where they are managed on a fair value basis or to eliminate or signiﬁcantly reduce an accounting
mismatch. Except for effective hedging instruments, derivatives are also categorised as fair value through proﬁt or
loss. Fair value movements are recognised in proﬁt or loss.

Available-for-sale ﬁnancial assets
Available-for-sale ﬁnancial assets are non-derivative ﬁnancial assets, principally equity securities, that are
either designated as available-for-sale or not classiﬁed as any other category. After initial recognition, fair value
movements are recognised in other comprehensive income through the available-for-sale reserve in equity.
Cumulative gain or loss previously reported in the available-for-sale reserve is recognised in proﬁt or loss when the
asset is derecognised or impaired.

Impairment of ﬁnancial assets
Financial Instruments
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The Consolidated Entity assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is any objective evidence that
a ﬁnancial asset or group of ﬁnancial assets is impaired. Objective evidence includes signiﬁcant ﬁnancial difﬁculty
of the issuer or obligor; a breach of contract such as default or delinquency in payments; the lender granting to
a borrower concessions due to economic or legal reasons that the lender would not otherwise do; it becomes
probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other ﬁnancial reorganisation; the disappearance of an active
market for the ﬁnancial asset; or observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in estimated future
cash ﬂows.
The amount of the impairment allowance for loans and receivables carried at amortised cost is the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash ﬂows, discounted at the
original effective interest rate. If there is a reversal of impairment, the reversal cannot exceed the amortised
cost that would have been recognised had the impairment not been made and is reversed to proﬁt or loss. Any
cumulative decline in fair value recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassiﬁed as an impairment loss at
this point.
The amount of the impairment allowance for ﬁnancial assets carried at cost is the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash ﬂows, discounted at the current market rate of
return for similar ﬁnancial assets.
In the case of available-for-sale ﬁnancial instruments, a prolonged decline (exceeding 12 months) or signiﬁcant
decrease from cost (exceeding 33%) in the market value of the instrument is considered to determine whether
impairment has arisen.

Derecognition
Financial assets are derecognised where the contractual rights to receipt of cash ﬂows expires or the asset is
transferred to another party whereby the entity no longer has any signiﬁcant continuing involvement in the risks and
beneﬁts associated with the asset. Financial liabilities are derecognised where the related obligations are either
discharged, cancelled or expire. The difference between the carrying value of the ﬁnancial liability extinguished or
transferred to another party and the fair value of consideration paid, including the transfer of non-cash assets or
liabilities assumed, is recognised in proﬁt or loss.
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NOTE 2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Owned assets
Items of plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. The cost
of self-constructed assets includes the cost of materials, direct labour and an appropriate portion of production
overheads. The cost of self-constructed and acquired assets includes (i) the initial estimate at the time of
installation and during the period of use, when relevant, of the costs of dismantling and removing the items and
restoring the site on which they are located, and (ii) changes in the measurement of existing liabilities recognised
for these costs resulting from changes in the timing or outﬂow of resources required to settle the obligation or from
changes in the discount rate.
Where parts of an item of plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate items
of plant and equipment.

Leased assets
Leases in terms of which the Consolidated Entity assumes substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership are
classiﬁed as ﬁnance leases. Finance leases are stated at an amount equal to the lower of fair value and the present
value of minimum lease payment at inception of the lease, less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

Sale of non current assets
The net gain or loss on disposal is included in the statement of comprehensive income at the date control of the
asset passes to the buyer, usually when an unconditional contract for sale is signed.
The gain or loss on disposal is calculated as the difference between the carrying amount of the asset at the time of
disposal and the net proceeds on disposal (including incidental costs).

S

Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis to write off the net cost of each item of property, plant and
equipment over their expected useful lives as follows:
Building
Plant and equipment ﬁnanced
Plant and equipment
Tracked plant and equipment

40 years
3 - 20 years or the term of the lease
Usage basis
Usage basis
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Subsequent costs
The Consolidated Entity recognises in the carrying amount of an item of plant and equipment the cost of replacing
part of such an item when that cost is incurred if it is probable that the future economic beneﬁts embodied within
the item will ﬂow to the Consolidated Entity and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other costs are
recognised in the statement of comprehensive income as an expense as incurred.

Revaluation
Increases in the carrying amount arising on the revaluation of plant and equipment are credited to a revaluation
reserve in equity. Decreases that offset previous increases of the same asset are charged against fair value
reserves directly in equity; all other decreases are charged to the statement of comprehensive income.

LEASES
The determination of whether an arrangement is or contains a lease is based on the substance of the arrangement
and requires an assessment of whether the fulﬁlment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of a speciﬁc
asset or assets and the arrangement conveys a right to use the asset.
A distinction is made between ﬁnance leases, which effectively transfer from the lessor to the lessee substantially
all the risks and beneﬁts incidental to ownership of leased assets, and operating leases, under which the lessor
effectively retains substantially all such risks and beneﬁts.
Finance leases are capitalised. A lease asset and liability are established at the fair value of the leased assets,
or if lower, the present value of minimum lease payments. Lease payments are allocated between the principal
component of the lease liability and the ﬁnance costs, so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining
balance of the liability.
Leased assets acquired under a ﬁnance lease are depreciated over the asset’s useful life or over the shorter of
the asset’s useful life and the lease term if there is no reasonable certainty that the Consolidated Entity will obtain
ownership at the end of the lease term.
Operating lease payments, net of any incentives received from the lessor, are charged to proﬁt or loss on a
straight-line basis over the term of the lease. Lease incentives received are recognised in the statement of
comprehensive income as an integral part of the total lease expense and spread over the lease term.

44

Mineral Resources Limited Annual Report 2013

For the year ended 30 June 2013

Notes to the Financial Statements
NOTE 2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Intangible assets acquired as part of a business combination, other than goodwill, are initially measured at their
fair value at the date of the acquisition. Intangible assets acquired separately are initially recognised at cost.
Indeﬁnite life intangible assets are not amortised and are subsequently measured at cost less any impairment.
Finite life intangible assets are subsequently measured at cost less amortisation and any impairment. The gains
or losses recognised in proﬁt or loss arising from the derecognition of intangible assets are measured as the
difference between net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the intangible asset. The method and useful
lives of ﬁnite life intangible assets are reviewed annually. Changes in the expected pattern of consumption or useful
life are accounted for prospectively by changing the amortisation method or period.

Goodwill
Goodwill and goodwill on consolidation are initially recorded at the amount by which the purchase price for a
business or for an ownership interest in a controlled entity exceeds the fair value attributed to its net assets at date
of acquisition. Goodwill on acquisition of subsidiaries is included in intangible assets. Goodwill on acquisition of
associates is included in investments in associates. Goodwill is not amortised. Instead, goodwill is tested annually
for impairment, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that it might be impaired, and is
carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses. Impairment losses on goodwill are taken to proﬁt or loss and
are not subsequently reversed.

Patents and trademarks
Patents acquired as part of a business combination are recognised separately from goodwill. The patents are carried
at their fair value at the date of acquisition less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses. Amortisation is
calculated using the straight line method to allocate the cost of patents over their estimated useful lives.

Port access rights
Port access rights acquired as part of a business combination are recognised separately from goodwill. The rights
are carried at their fair value at the date of acquisition less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses.
Amortisation is calculated based on the timing of projected cash ﬂows of the access rights over their estimated
useful lives.

Operating leases
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Operating leases acquired as part of a business combination are recognised separately from goodwill. The leases
are carried at their fair value at the date of acquisition less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses.
Amortisation is calculated based on the timing of projected cash ﬂows of the lease over their estimated useful lives.

EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION ASSETS
Exploration and evaluation expenditure in relation to separate areas of interest for which rights of tenure are current
is carried forward as an asset in the statement of ﬁnancial position where it is expected that the expenditure will be
recovered through the successful development and exploitation of an area of interest, or by its sale; or exploration
activities are continuing in an area and activities have not reached a stage which permits a reasonable estimate of
the existence or otherwise of economically recoverable reserves. Where a project or an area of interest has been
abandoned, the expenditure incurred thereon is written off in the year in which the decision is made.
Capitalised expenditure includes expenditure directly related to exploration and evaluation activities in the relevant
area of interest including the generation of mining information. General and administrative costs are allocated to
an exploration or evaluation asset only to the extent that those costs can be related directly to operational activities
in the relevant area of interest.
Capitalised exploration and evaluation expenditure is written off where the above conditions are no longer satisﬁed.
Identiﬁable exploration assets acquired are recognised as assets at their fair value, as determined by the
requirements of AASB 3 Business Combinations. Exploration and evaluation expenditure incurred subsequent to the
acquisition of an exploration asset in a business combination is accounted for in accordance with this policy.
All capitalised exploration and evaluation expenditure is assessed for impairment if facts and circumstances
indicate that impairment may exist. Exploration and evaluation assets are also tested for impairment once
commercial reserves are found, before the assets are transferred to development properties.
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NOTE 2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
DEVELOPMENT EXPENDITURES
Development expenditure incurred by or on behalf of the Consolidated Entity is accumulated separately for each
area of interest in which economically recoverable resources have been identiﬁed. Such expenditure comprises cost
directly attributable to the construction of a mine and the related infrastructure.
Once a development decision has been taken, the carrying amount of the exploration and evaluation expenditure
in respect of the area of interest is aggregated with the development expenditure and classiﬁed under non-current
assets as development properties.
Depreciation is charged using the units-of-production method, with separate calculations being made for each area
of interest. The units-of-production basis results in a depreciation charge proportional to the depletion of proved,
probable and estimated reserves. Development properties are tested for impairment in accordance with the policy
on impairment of assets.

DEVELOPMENT STRIPPING
Development stripping costs
Development stripping costs arise from the removal of overburden and other mine waste materials removed during
the development of a mine site in order to access the mineral deposit. Costs directly attributable development
stripping activities costs, inclusive of an allocation of relevant overhead expenditure, are initially capitalised to
Exploration and Evaluation expenditure. Capitalisation of development stripping costs ceases at the time that
saleable material begins to be extracted from the mine. On completion of development, all capitalised development
stripping included in Exploration and Evaluation is transferred to Development expenditure. Production stripping
commences at the time that saleable materials begin to be extracted from the mine and, under normal
circumstances, continue throughout the life of the mine. Costs of production stripping are charged to the income
statement as operating costs when the ratio of waste material to ore extracted for an area of interest is expected to
be constant throughout its estimated life.

S

When the ratio of waste to ore is not expected to be constant, production stripping costs are accounted for as follows:
•
•
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•

All costs are initially charged to the income statement and classiﬁed as operating costs.
When the current ratio of waste to ore is greater than the estimated life-of-mine ratio, a portion of the stripping
costs (inclusive of an allocation of relevant overhead expenditure) is capitalised to Development Expenditure.
In subsequent years when the ratio of waste to ore is less than the estimated life-of-mine ratio, a portion of
capitalised stripping costs is charged to the income statement as operating costs. The amount of production
stripping costs capitalised or charged in a ﬁnancial year is determined so that the stripping expense for
the ﬁnancial year reﬂects the estimated life-of-mine ratio. Changes to the estimated life-of-mine ratio are
accounted for prospectively from the date of the change

INVESTMENTS
Investments in controlled entities are carried at cost.

INTEREST IN JOINT VENTURES
The Consolidated Entity’s share of the assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses of jointly controlled assets has been
included in the appropriate line items of the consolidated ﬁnancial statements.
The Consolidated Entity’s interests in joint venture entities are brought to account using the interests in joint venture
operation are brought to account using the proportionate consolidation method.
Where the Consolidated Entity contributes assets to the joint venture, or if the Consolidated Entity purchases assets
from the joint venture, only the portion of the gain or loss that is not attributable to the Consolidated Entity’s share
of the joint venture shall be recognised. The Consolidated Entity however will recognise the full amount of any loss
when the contribution results in a reduction in the net realisable value of current assets or an impairment loss.

IMPAIRMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS
Goodwill and other intangible assets that have an indeﬁnite useful life are not subject to amortisation and are tested
annually for impairment, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that they might be
impaired. Other non-ﬁnancial assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by
which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.
Recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value-in-use. The value-in-use is
the present value of the estimated future cash ﬂows relating to the asset using a pre-tax discount rate speciﬁc to
the asset or cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. Assets that do not have independent cash ﬂows are
grouped together to form a cash-generating unit.
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TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
Trade and other payables represent the liabilities for goods and services received by the entity that remain unpaid
at the end of the reporting period. The balance is recognised as a current liability with the amounts normally paid
within 60 days of recognition of the liability.

BORROWINGS
Loans and borrowings are initially recognised at the fair value of the consideration received, net of transaction
costs. They are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.
Where there is an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting
date, the loans or borrowings are classiﬁed as non-current.

BORROWING COSTS
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of assets that necessarily take a
substantial period of time to prepare for their intended use or sale are added to the cost of those assets, until such
time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.
All other borrowing costs are recognised in proﬁt or loss in the period in which they are incurred.

FINANCE COSTS
Finance costs attributable to qualifying assets are capitalised as part of the asset. All other ﬁnance costs are
expensed in the period in which they are incurred, including:
- interest on short-term and long-term borrowings
- interest on ﬁnance leases

PROVISIONS

Notes to the
Financials

Provisions are recognised when the Consolidated Entity has a present (legal or constructive) obligation as a result
of a past event, it is probable the Consolidated Entity will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate
can be made of the amount of the obligation. The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the
consideration required to settle the present obligation at the reporting date, taking into account the risks and
uncertainties surrounding the obligation. If the time value of money is material, provisions are discounted using
a current pre-tax rate speciﬁc to the liability. The increase in the provision resulting from the passage of time is
recognised as a ﬁnance cost.

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
Wages and salaries and annual leave
Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary beneﬁts, and annual leave expected to be settled within
12 months of the reporting date are recognised in current liabilities in respect of employees’ services up to the
reporting date and are measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled.

Long service leave
The liability for long service leave is recognised in current and non-current liabilities, depending on the
unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting date. The liability
is measured as the present value of expected future payments to be made in respect of services provided by
employees up to the reporting date using the projected unit credit method. Consideration is given to expected future
wage and salary levels, experience of employee departures and periods of service. Expected future payments are
discounted using market yields at the reporting date on national government bonds with terms to maturity and
currency that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outﬂows.

Share-based payments
Certain employees may be entitled to participate in option ownership schemes. The fair value of options granted
is recognised as an expense with a corresponding increase in equity. The fair value is measured at grant date and
recognised over the vesting period being the period during which the employees become unconditionally entitled to
the options. The fair value of options granted is measured using a recognised valuation model, taking into account
the terms and conditions upon which the options were granted. The number of options expected to vest is reviewed
and adjusted at each reporting date such that the amount recognised as an expense for the options granted is
based upon the number of options that eventually vest.

EMPLOYEE SHARE TRUST
The Consolidated Entity has in place a trust to administer the Consolidated Entity’s employee share and share
option schemes. This trust is consolidated, as the substance of the relationship is that the trust is controlled by the
Consolidated Entity.
Shares held by the Mineral Resources Employee Share Trust are disclosed as treasury shares and deducted from
contributed equity.
Mineral Resources Limited Annual Report 2013
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FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSACTIONS
Foreign currency transactions are translated into functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at
the date of the transaction. Foreign currency monetary items are translated at the year-end exchange rate.
Non-monetary items measured at historical cost continue to be carried at the exchange rate at the date of the
transaction. Non-monetary items measured at fair value are reported at the exchange rate at the date when fair
values were determined. Exchange differences arising on the translation of monetary items are recognised in the
statement of comprehensive income, except where deferred in equity as a qualifying cash ﬂow or net investment
hedge. Exchange differences arising on the translation of non-monetary items are recognised directly in equity to
the extent that the gain or loss is directly recognised in equity; otherwise the exchange difference is recognised in
the statement of comprehensive income.

ISSUED CAPITAL
Ordinary shares are classiﬁed as equity.
Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net
of tax, from the proceeds.

DIVIDENDS
Dividends are recognised when declared during the ﬁnancial year and no longer at the discretion of the Company.

BUSINESS COMBINATIONS
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The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for business combinations regardless of whether equity
instruments or other assets are acquired.
The consideration transferred is the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred, equity
instruments issued or liabilities incurred by the acquirer to former owners of the acquiree and the amount of any
non-controlling interest in the acquiree. For each business combination, the non-controlling interest in the acquiree
is measured at either fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identiﬁable net assets. All acquisition
costs are expensed as incurred to proﬁt or loss.
On the acquisition of a business, the Consolidated Entity assesses the ﬁnancial assets acquired and liabilities
assumed for appropriate classiﬁcation and designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic
conditions, the Consolidated Entity’s operating or accounting policies and other pertinent conditions in existence at
the acquisition-date.
Where the business combination is achieved in stages, the Consolidated Entity remeasures its previously held equity
interest in the acquiree at the acquisition-date fair value and the difference between the fair value and the previous
carrying amount is recognised in proﬁt or loss.
Contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer is recognised at the acquisition-date fair value.
Subsequent changes in the fair value of contingent consideration classiﬁed as an asset or liability is recognised
in proﬁt or loss. Contingent consideration classiﬁed as equity is not remeasured and its subsequent settlement is
accounted for within equity.
The difference between the acquisition-date fair value of assets acquired, liabilities assumed and any noncontrolling interest in the acquiree and the fair value of the consideration transferred and the fair value of any preexisting investment in the acquiree is recognised as goodwill. If the consideration transferred and the pre-existing
fair value is less than the fair value of the identiﬁable net assets acquired, being a bargain purchase to the acquirer,
the difference is recognised as a gain directly in proﬁt or loss by the acquirer on the acquisition-date, but only after
a reassessment of the identiﬁcation and measurement of the net assets acquired, the non-controlling interest in the
acquiree, if any, the consideration transferred and the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the acquirer.
Business combinations are initially accounted for on a provisional basis. The acquirer retrospectively adjusts the
provisional amounts recognised and also recognises additional assets or liabilities during the measurement period,
based on new information obtained about the facts and circumstances that existed at the acquisition-date. The
measurement period ends on either the earlier of (i) 12 months from the date of the acquisition or (ii) when the
acquirer receives all the information possible to determine fair value.
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EARNINGS PER SHARE
Basic earnings per share
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the proﬁt attributable to the owners of Mineral Resources
Limited, excluding any costs of servicing equity other than ordinary shares, by the weighted average number of
ordinary shares outstanding during the ﬁnancial year, adjusted for bonus elements in ordinary shares issued during
the ﬁnancial year.

Diluted earnings per share
Diluted earnings per share adjusts the ﬁgures used in the determination of basic earnings per share to take into
account the after income tax effect of interest and other ﬁnancing costs associated with dilutive potential ordinary
shares and the weighted average number of shares assumed to have been issued for no consideration in relation to
dilutive potential ordinary shares.

GOODS AND SERVICES TAX (‘GST’) AND OTHER SIMILAR TAXES
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of associated GST, unless the GST incurred is not
recoverable from the tax authority. In this case it is recognised as part of the cost of the acquisition of the asset or
as part of the expense.
Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of GST receivable or payable. The net amount of GST
recoverable from, or payable to, the tax authority is included in other receivables or other payables in the statement
of ﬁnancial position.
Cash ﬂows are presented on a gross basis. The GST components of cash ﬂows arising from investing or ﬁnancing
activities which are recoverable from, or payable to the tax authority, are presented as operating cash ﬂows.
Commitments and contingencies are disclosed net of the amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the tax authority.

ROUNDING OF AMOUNTS
The Company is of a kind referred to in Class Order 98/100, issued by the Australian Securities and Investments
Commission, relating to ‘rounding-off’. Amounts in this report have been rounded off in accordance with that Class
Order to the nearest thousand dollars, or in certain cases, the nearest dollar.

NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS NOT YET MANDATORY OR EARLY ADOPTED
Notes to the
Financials

Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations that have recently been issued or amended but are not yet
mandatory, have not been early adopted by the Consolidated Entity for the annual reporting period ended 30 June
2013. The Consolidated Entity’s assessment of the impact of these new or amended Accounting Standards and
Interpretations, most relevant to the Consolidated Entity, are set out below.

AASB 9 Financial Instruments, 2009-11 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB
9, 2010-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9 and 2012-6 Amendments to
Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9
This standard and its consequential amendments are applicable to annual reporting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2015 and completes phase I of the IASB’s project to replace IAS 39 (being the international equivalent
to AASB 139 ‘Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement’). This standard introduces new classiﬁcation
and measurement models for ﬁnancial assets, using a single approach to determine whether a ﬁnancial asset
is measured at amortised cost or fair value. The accounting for ﬁnancial liabilities continues to be classiﬁed
and measured in accordance with AASB 139, with one exception, being that the portion of a change of fair value
relating to the entity’s own credit risk is to be presented in other comprehensive income unless it would create
an accounting mismatch. The Consolidated Entity will adopt this standard from 1 July 2015 but the impact of its
adoption is yet to be assessed by the Consolidated Entity.
AASB 10 Consolidated Financial Statements
This standard is applicable to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013. The standard has
a new deﬁnition of ‘control’. Control exists when the reporting entity is exposed, or has the rights, to variable
returns (e.g. dividends, remuneration, returns that are not available to other interest holders including losses)
from its involvement with another entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its ‘power’ over that
other entity. A reporting entity has power when it has rights (e.g. voting rights, potential voting rights, rights to
appoint key management, decision making rights, kick out rights) that give it the current ability to direct the
activities that signiﬁcantly affect the investee’s returns (e.g. operating policies, capital decisions, appointment of key
management). The Consolidated Entity will not only have to consider its holdings and rights but also the holdings
and rights of other shareholders in order to determine whether it has the necessary power for consolidation
purposes. The adoption of this standard from 1 July 2013 may have an impact where the Consolidated Entity has a
holding of less than 50% in an entity, has de facto control, and is not currently consolidating that entity.
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AASB 11 Joint Arrangements
This standard is applicable to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013. The standard deﬁnes
which entities qualify as joint ventures and removes the option to account for joint ventures using proportional
consolidation. Joint ventures, where the parties to the agreement have the rights to the net assets will use equity
accounting. Joint operations, where the parties to the agreements have the rights to the assets and obligations for the
liabilities will account for the assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses separately, using proportionate consolidation.
The adoption of this standard from 1 July 2013 will not have a material impact on the Consolidated Entity.
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AASB 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities
This standard is applicable to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013. It contains the entire
disclosure requirement associated with other entities, being subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures. The
disclosure requirements have been signiﬁcantly enhanced when compared to the disclosures previously located
in AASB 127 ‘Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements’, AASB 128 ‘Investments in Associates’, AASB
131 ‘Interests in Joint Ventures’ and Interpretation 112 ‘Consolidation - Special Purpose Entities’. The adoption
of this standard from 1 July 2013 will signiﬁcantly increase the amount of disclosures required to be given by
the Consolidated Entity such as signiﬁcant judgements and assumptions made in determining whether it has a
controlling or non-controlling interest in another entity and the type of non-controlling interest and the nature and
risks involved.
AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement and AASB 2011-8 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from
AASB 13
This standard and its consequential amendments are applicable to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1
January 2013. The standard provides a single robust measurement framework, with clear measurement objectives,
for measuring fair value using the ‘exit price’ and it provides guidance on measuring fair value when a market
becomes less active. The ‘highest and best use’ approach would be used to measure assets whereas liabilities
would be based on transfer value. As the standard does not introduce any new requirements for the use of fair
value, its impact on adoption by the Consolidated Entity from 1 July 2013 should be minimal, although there will be
increased disclosures where fair value is used.
AASB 127 Separate Financial Statements (Revised)
AASB 128 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures (Reissued)
These standards are applicable to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013. They have been
modiﬁed to remove speciﬁc guidance that is now contained in AASB 10, AASB 11 and AASB 12. The adoption of
these revised standards from 1 July 2013 will not have a material impact on the Consolidated Entity.
AASB 119 Employee Beneﬁts (September 2011) and AASB 2011-10 Amendments to Australian Accounting
Standards arising from AASB 119 (September 2011)
This revised standard and its consequential amendments are applicable to annual reporting periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2013. The amendments make changes to the accounting for deﬁned beneﬁt plans and the deﬁnition
of short-term employee beneﬁts, from ‘due to’ to ‘expected to’ be settled within 12 months. The later will require
annual leave that is not expected to be wholly settled within 12 months to be discounted allowing for expected salary
levels in the future period when the leave is expected to be taken. The adoption of the revised standard from 1 July
2013 is expected to reduce the reported annual leave liability of the Consolidated Entity.
AASB 2011-4 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards to Remove Individual Key Management Personnel
Disclosure Requirement
These amendments are applicable to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2013, with early
adoption not permitted. They amend AASB 124 ‘Related Party Disclosures’ by removing the disclosure requirements
for individual key management personnel (‘KMP’). The adoption of these amendments from 1 July 2014 will
remove the duplication of information relating to individual KMP in the notes to the ﬁnancial statements and the
directors report. As the aggregate disclosures are still required by AASB 124 and during the transitional period the
requirements may be included in the Corporations Act or other legislation, it is expected that the amendments will
not have a material impact on the Consolidated Entity.
AASB 2011-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the Consolidation and Joint
Arrangements Standards
The amendments are applicable to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013. The amendments
make numerous consequential changes to a range of Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations,
following the issuance of AASB 10, AASB 11, AASB 12 and revised AASB 127 and AASB 128. The adoption of these
amendments from 1 July 2013 will not have a material impact on the Consolidated Entity.
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AASB 2012-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Disclosures - Offsetting Financial Assets and
Financial Liabilities
The amendments are applicable to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013. The disclosure
requirements of AASB 7 ‘Financial Instruments: Disclosures’ (and consequential amendments to AASB 132
‘Financial Instruments: Presentation’) have been enhanced to provide users of ﬁnancial statements with information
about netting arrangements, including rights of set-off related to an entity’s ﬁnancial instruments and the effects
of such rights on its statement of ﬁnancial position. The adoption of the amendments from 1 July 2013 will increase
the disclosures by the Consolidated Entity.
AASB 2012-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities
The amendments are applicable to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014. The amendments
add application guidance to address inconsistencies in the application of the offsetting criteria in AASB 132
‘Financial Instruments: Presentation’, by clarifying the meaning of “currently has a legally enforceable right of setoff”; and clariﬁes that some gross settlement systems may be considered to be equivalent to net settlement. The
adoption of the amendments from 1 July 2014 will not have a material impact on the Consolidated Entity.
AASB 2012-5 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from Annual Improvements 2009-2011 Cycle
The amendments are applicable to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013. The amendments
affect ﬁve Australian Accounting Standards as follows: Conﬁrmation that repeat application of AASB 1 (IFRS 1) ‘Firsttime Adoption of Australian Accounting Standards’ is permitted; Clariﬁcation of borrowing cost exemption in AASB
1; Clariﬁcation of the comparative information requirements when an entity provides an optional third column or is
required to present a third statement of ﬁnancial position in accordance with AASB 101 ‘Presentation of Financial
Statements’; Clariﬁcation that servicing of equipment is covered by AASB 116 ‘Property, Plant and Equipment’, if
such equipment is used for more than one period; clariﬁcation that the tax effect of distributions to holders of equity
instruments and equity transaction costs in AASB 132 ‘Financial Instruments: Presentation’ should be accounted for
in accordance with AASB 112 ‘Income Taxes’; and clariﬁcation of the ﬁnancial reporting requirements in AASB 134
‘Interim Financial Reporting’ and the disclosure requirements of segment assets and liabilities. The adoption of the
amendments from 1 July 2013 will not have a material impact on the Consolidated Entity.

NOTE 3. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS
Notes to the
Financials

The preparation of the ﬁnancial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts in the ﬁnancial statements. Management continually evaluates its judgements
and estimates in relation to assets, liabilities, contingent liabilities, revenue and expenses. Management bases
its judgements, estimates and assumptions on historical experience and on other various factors, including
expectations of future events, management believes to be reasonable under the circumstances. The resulting
accounting judgements and estimates will seldom equal the related actual results. The judgements, estimates and
assumptions that have a signiﬁcant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities (refer to the respective notes) within the next ﬁnancial year are discussed below.

Provision for impairment of receivables
The provision for impairment of receivables assessment requires a degree of estimation and judgement. The level
of provision is assessed by taking into account the recent sales experience, the ageing of receivables, historical
collection rates and speciﬁc knowledge of the individual debtors ﬁnancial position.
Fair value and hierarchy of ﬁnancial instruments
The Consolidated Entity is required to classify ﬁnancial instruments, measured at fair value, using a three level
hierarchy, being: Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; Level 2: Inputs
other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (as prices)
or indirectly (derived from prices); and Level 3: Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market
data (unobservable inputs). An instrument is required to be classiﬁed in its entirety on the basis of the lowest level of
valuation inputs that is signiﬁcant to fair value. Considerable judgement is required to determine what is signiﬁcant to
fair value and therefore which category the ﬁnancial instrument is placed in can be subjective.
Estimation of useful lives of assets
The Consolidated Entity determines the estimated useful lives and related depreciation and amortisation charges
for its property, plant and equipment and ﬁnite life intangible assets. The useful lives could change signiﬁcantly as
a result of technical innovations or some other event. The depreciation and amortisation charge will increase where
the useful lives are less than previously estimated lives, or technically obsolete or non-strategic assets that have
been abandoned or sold will be written off or written down.
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(CONTINUED)
Goodwill and other indeﬁnite life intangible assets
The Consolidated Entity tests annually, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate
impairment, whether goodwill and other indeﬁnite life intangible assets have suffered any impairment, in
accordance with the accounting policy stated in note 2. The recoverable amounts of cash-generating units have
been determined based on value-in-use calculations. These calculations require the use of assumptions, including
estimated discount rates based on the current cost of capital and growth rates of the estimated future cash ﬂows.
Impairment of non-ﬁnancial assets other than goodwill and other indeﬁnite life intangible assets
The Consolidated Entity assesses impairment of non-ﬁnancial assets other than goodwill and other indeﬁnite life
intangible assets at each reporting date by evaluating conditions speciﬁc to the Consolidated Entity and to the
particular asset that may lead to impairment. If an impairment trigger exists, the recoverable amount of the asset
is determined. This involves fair value less costs to sell or value-in-use calculations, which incorporate a number of
key estimates and assumptions.
Mineral Resource Rent Tax (“MRRT”) Starting Base Allowance
In computing MRRT payable, a deduction is provided in respect of the market value of the mining assets as at 1 May
2010 plus eligible expenditure from that date to 30 June 2012 (Starting Base Allowance). The Consolidated Entity
has elected market value to determine the starting value of the Starting Base Allowance. A provisional estimate
of market value has been made as at reporting date. To the extent that recovery of the Starting Base Allowance is
probable, a deferred tax asset is recognised on the temporary difference between the amount that is deductible for
MRRT purposes and the carrying value of the assets in the accounts.
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Impairment of capitalised exploration and evaluation expenditure
The future recoverability of capitalised exploration and evaluation expenditure is dependent on a number of factors,
including whether the Consolidated Entity decides to exploit the related lease itself or, if not, whether it successfully
recovers the related exploration and evaluation asset through sale.
Factors which could impact the future recoverability include the level of proved, probable and inferred mineral
resources, future technological changes which could impact the cost of mining, future legal changes (including
changes to environmental restoration obligations) and changes to commodity prices.
To the extent that capitalised exploration and evaluation expenditure is determined not to be recoverable in the
future, this will reduce proﬁts and net assets in the period in which this determination is made.
In addition, exploration and evaluation expenditure is capitalised if activities in the area of interest have not yet
reached a stage which permits a reasonable assessment of the existence or otherwise of economically recoverable
reserves. To the extent that it is determined in the future that this capitalised expenditure should be written off, this
will reduce proﬁts and net assets in the period in which this determination is made.

Ore reserve and resource estimates
Ore reserves are estimates of the amount of product that can be economically and legally extracted from the
Consolidated Entity’s current mining tenements. The Consolidated Entity estimates its ore reserves based on
information compiled by appropriately qualiﬁed persons able to interpret the geological data. The estimation of
recoverable reserves is based on factors such as estimates of foreign exchange rates, commodity prices, future
capital requirements, and production costs, along with geological assumptions and judgements made in estimating
the size and grade of the ore body. Changes in the reserve or resource estimates may impact on the value of
exploration and evaluation assets, mine properties, property plant and equipment, provision for rehabilitation and
depreciation and amortisation charges.
Units of production depreciation
Estimated recoverable reserves are used in determining the depreciation and/or amortisation of mine speciﬁc
assets. This results in a depreciation/amortisation charge proportional to the depletion of the anticipated
remaining life of mine production. Each item’s life, which is assessed annually, has regard to both its physical
life limitations and to present assessments of economically recoverable reserves of the mine property at which
the asset is located. These calculations require the use of estimates and assumptions, including the amount of
recoverable reserves and estimates of future capital expenditure. The Consolidated Entity adopts a Run of Mine
(ROM) tonnes of ore produced methodology.
Income tax
The Consolidated Entity is subject to income taxes in the jurisdictions in which it operates. Signiﬁcant judgement
is required in determining the provision for income tax. There are many transactions and calculations undertaken
during the ordinary course of business for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain. The Consolidated
Entity recognises liabilities for anticipated tax based on the Consolidated Entity’s current understanding of the
tax law. Where the ﬁnal tax outcome of these matters is different from the carrying amount, such differences will
impact the current and deferred tax provisions in the period in which such determination is made.
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Business segment
Mineral Resources Limited has identiﬁed its operating segments based on internal management reports that
are reviewed by the executive committee (the Chief Operating Decision Makers) in assessing performance and in
determining the allocation of resources.
Mineral Resources Limited continues to report its business results as three operating segments being mining
services and processing, mining and central. All are operating within the resources sector of the Australian economy.
The measurement of segment results is in line with the basis of information presented to management for internal
management reporting purposes and the performance of each segment is measure based on underlying EBIT
contribution.
The accounting policies applied for internal reporting purposes are consistent with those applied in the preparation
of the ﬁnancial statements.

Major customers
During the year ended 30 June 2013 approximately 39.0% (2012: 51.3%) of the Consolidated Entity’s external revenue
was derived from sales to two customers being 20.7% and 18.3% respectively (2012: 32.5% and 18.8% respectively).

Operating segment information
Consolidated - 30 June 2013

Mining

Central

Total

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

854,791
(187,856)
666,935
666,935

438,931
(9,044)
429,887
429,887

48,755
(48,595)
160
160

1,342,477
(245,495)
1,096,982
1,096,982

(84,675)
(5,332)
2,248
(336,863)
242,313

(40,208)
(177)
3,973
(363,938)
29,537

(2,175)
(41)
2,132
(21,404)
(21,328)

(127,058)
(5,550)
8,353
(722,205)
250,522
(70,104)
180,418

Assets
Segment assets
Total assets

965,143

616,287

223,003

1,804,433
1,804,433

Liabilities
Segment liabilities
Total liabilities

332,929

143,517

310,247

786,693
786,693

Revenue
Sales to external customers
Intersegment sales
Total sales revenue
Total revenue
Depreciation and amortisation
Finance costs
Other revenue
Other expenses
Proﬁt/(loss) before income tax expense
Income tax expense
Proﬁt after income tax expense
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Consolidated - 30 June 2012

Mining
Services &
Processing

Mining

Central

Total

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

935,059
(200,851)
734,208
734,208

202,923
(11,342)
191,581
191,581

126
(58)
68
68

1,138,108
(212,251)
925,857
925,857

(48,816)
(1,362)
(4,065)
5,487
(481,967)
203,485

(18,446)
(514)
(102)
1,996
(137,445)
37,070

(1,460)
(598)
(2,270)
5,573
(17,668)
(16,355)

(68,722)
(2,474)
(6,437)
13,056
(637,080)
224,200
18,039
242,239

Assets
Segment assets
Total assets

769,096

439,014

227,819

1,435,929
1,435,929

Liabilities
Segment liabilities
Total liabilities

293,172

101,799

124,207

519,178
519,178

Revenue
Sales to external customers
Intersegment sales
Total sales revenue
Total revenue

S

Depreciation and amortisation
Impairment of assets
Finance costs
Other revenue
Other expenses
Proﬁt/(loss) before income tax beneﬁt
Income tax beneﬁt
Proﬁt after income tax beneﬁt

Notes to the
Financials

Geographical information
Sales to external customers

Australia
China
Singapore
Others

Geographical non-current assets

30 June 2013
$’000

30 June 2012
$’000

30 June 2013
$’000

30 June 2012
$’000

595,731
323,313
65,323
112,615
1,096,982

513,850
319,195
79,218
13,594
925,857

1,384,553
190
1,384,743

1,064,956
190
1,065,146

The geographical non-current assets above are exclusive of, where applicable, ﬁnancial instruments, deferred tax
assets, post-employment beneﬁts assets and rights under insurance contracts.

Revenue by customers
Revenue from services provided and mining product sold was comprised of the following clients and buyers who
each on a proportionate basis equated to greater than 10% of total sales for the year.
Consolidated

Customer
Customer #1
Customer #2

30 June 2013
$’000

30 June 2012
$’000

227,525
200,871
428,396

300,464
174,013
474,477

The percentage of the total revenue for customer #1 and customer #2 is 20.7% (2012:32.5%) and 18.3% (2012:
18.8%) respectively.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
NOTE 5. REVENUE
Consolidated

Contract and operational revenue
Sale of goods and equipment
Equipment rental
Revenue

30 June 2013
$’000

30 June 2012
$’000

529,111
566,885
986
1,096,982

468,680
456,246
931
925,857

NOTE 6. OTHER INCOME
Consolidated
30 June 2013
$’000
Interest income
Rent received
Foreign exchange gain
Other
Other income

30 June 2012
$’000

352
858
4,358
2,785
8,353

5,046
4,029
3,981
13,056

NOTE 7. EXPENSES
Consolidated
30 June 2013
$’000

30 June 2012
$’000

Proﬁt before income tax includes the following speciﬁc expenses:

98,779

55,338

Amortisation
Development expenditure
Port access
Others
Total amortisation

26,145
1,413
721
28,279

11,757
923
704
13,384

127,058

68,722

5,550

6,437

106

349

8,567

6,988

48,835

43,963

Total depreciation and amortisation

Finance costs
Interest and ﬁnance charges paid/payable
Net loss on disposal
Net loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Rental expense relating to operating leases
Minimum lease payments
Research costs
Research costs
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Notes to the Financial Statements
NOTE 8. INCOME TAX EXPENSE/(BENEFIT)
Consolidated
30 June 2013
$’000

Income tax expense/(beneﬁt)
Current tax
Deferred tax - origination and reversal of temporary differences
Adjustment recognised for prior periods
Aggregate income tax expense/(beneﬁt)

43,809
26,883
(588)
70,104

28,790
(48,462)
1,633
(18,039)

Deferred tax included in income tax expense/(beneﬁt) comprises:
Decrease/(increase) in deferred tax assets (note 20)
Increase in deferred tax liabilities (note 27)
Deferred tax - origination and reversal of temporary differences

3,129
23,754
26,883

(62,775)
14,313
(48,462)

250,522

224,200

75,157

67,260

(4,884)
(587)
270
69,956
(588)
736
70,104

(2,900)
(358)
1,960
65,962
1,633
(30)
(20,442)
(65,162)
(18,039)

863
(305)
558

1,193
(930)
263

21,756
6,527

18,378
5,513

Numerical reconciliation of income tax expense/(beneﬁt) and tax at the statutory rate
Proﬁt before income tax (expense)/beneﬁt
Tax at the statutory tax rate of 30%

S

Tax effect amounts which are not deductible/(taxable) in calculating taxable income:
Research and development concessions
Employee share trust
Sundry items
Adjustment recognised for prior periods
Current year tax losses not recognised
Prior year temporary differences not recognised now recognised
Mining Resources Rent Tax temporary difference
Income tax expense/(beneﬁt)

Notes to the
Financials

30 June 2012
$’000

Amounts charged/(credited) directly to equity
Deferred tax assets (note 20)
Deferred tax liabilities (note 27)

Tax losses not recognised
Unused tax losses for which no deferred tax asset has been recognised
Potential tax beneﬁt @ 30%

The above potential tax beneﬁt for tax losses has not been recognised in the statement of ﬁnancial position. These
tax losses can only be utilised in the future if the continuity of ownership test is passed, or failing that, the same
business test is passed.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
NOTE 9. CURRENT ASSETS - CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Consolidated
30 June 2013
$’000
Cash at bank and on hand
Deposits at call

30 June 2012
$’000

57,827
5
57,832

71,920
4,362
76,282

Cast at bank and on hand is interest bearing at 2.75% AUD 0.03% USD (2012: 3.50% AUD 0.03% USD).
Deposits at call are interest bearing at 2.9% AUD NIL USD (2012: NIL AUD 0.18% USD).

NOTE 10. CURRENT ASSETS - TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
Consolidated

Trade receivables
Provision for impairment

30 June 2013
$’000

30 June 2012
$’000

197,597
(654)
196,943

142,901
(1,001)
141,900

Included in trade receivables is amount due from customers of $10,591,000 (2012: $13,190,000)

Impairment of receivables
The Consolidated Entity has recognised a reversal of $347,000 (2012: loss of $23,000) in proﬁt and loss in respect of
impairment of receivables for the year ended 30 June 2013. The ageing of the impaired receivables provided for
above are as follows:
Consolidated
30 June 2013
$’000
654
654

1,001
1,001

Notes to the
Financials

1 to 60 days overdue
61 to 90 days overdue
Over 90 days overdue

30 June 2012
$’000

Movements in the provision for impairment of receivables are as follows:
Consolidated
30 June 2013
$’000
Opening balance
Additional provisions recognised
Unused amounts reversed
Closing balance

1,001
(347)
654

30 June 2012
$’000
978
23
1,001
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Notes to the Financial Statements
NOTE 10. CURRENT ASSETS - TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)
Past due but not impaired
Customers with balances past due but without provision for impairment of receivables amount to $9,959,000 as at
30 June 2013 ($7,857,000 as at 30 June 2012).
The Consolidated Entity did not consider a credit risk on the aggregate balances after reviewing credit terms of
customers based on recent collection practices.
The ageing of the past due but not impaired receivables are as follows:
Consolidated
30 June 2013
$’000
61-90 days overdue
Over 90 days overdue

30 June 2012
$’000

803
9,156
9,959

3,179
4,678
7,857

These relate to a number of independent customers for whom there is no recent history of default.
Consolidated

Construction contracts
Contract costs incurred to date
Proﬁt recognised to date

Notes to the
Financials

S

Less: progress billings received and receivable
Net construction work in progress
Representing:
Amounts due from customers included in trade receivables
Amounts due to customers included in trade and other
payables (note 21)

30 June 2013
$’000

30 June 2012
$’000

100,575
13,685
114,260
(142,254)
(27,994)

279,975
29,307
309,282
(300,345)
8,937

10,591

13,190

(38,585)
(27,994)

(4,253)
8,937

NOTE 11. CURRENT ASSETS - INVENTORIES
Consolidated
30 June 2013
$’000
Raw materials and stores
Ore inventory stockpiles
Work in progress
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17,101
37,680
20,908
75,689

30 June 2012
$’000
11,401
45,232
10,488
67,121

For the year ended 30 June 2013

Notes to the Financial Statements
NOTE 12. CURRENT ASSETS - FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS
Consolidated
30 June 2013
$’000
Financial assets at fair value through proﬁt or loss

30 June 2012
$’000

-

5

Refer to note 33 for further information on ﬁnancial instruments.
The Consolidated Entity has entered into forward exchange contracts which are economic hedges but do not satisfy
the requirements for hedge accounting. These contracts are accounted for as held for trading. Changes in the fair
value of these contracts are recorded in the statement of comprehensive income. Fair value of shares in listed
companies is determined by the closing price on the reporting date.

NOTE 13. CURRENT ASSETS - OTHER
Consolidated
30 June 2013
$’000
Prepayments

30 June 2012
$’000

5,896

1,771

NOTE 14. NON-CURRENT ASSETS - RECEIVABLES
Consolidated
30 June 2013
$’000
Security deposits

30 June 2012
$’000

113

3,298

The trade receivables are not past due or nor impaired. The carrying amount is equivalent to fair value.

NOTE 15. NON-CURRENT ASSETS - INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE
EQUITY METHOD
Consolidated

Investment in Minprocess Group Inc.
Investment in Iron Processing Group Inc.
Investment in Process Minerals International Pty Ltd Inc.

30 June 2012
$’000

66
54
70
190

Notes to the
Financials

30 June 2013
$’000

66
54
70
190

Refer to note 41 for further information on investments in associates.

NOTE 16. NON-CURRENT ASSETS - AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS
Consolidated
30 June 2013
$’000
Shares in listed corporations - at fair value
Investment in unlisted Company

376
2,336
2,712

30 June 2012
$’000
1,391
1,391

Refer to note 33 for further information on ﬁnancial instruments.
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NOTE 17. NON-CURRENT ASSETS - PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Consolidated
30 June 2013
$’000

30 June 2012
$’000

Land - cost

13,319
13,319

-

Buildings - cost
Less: Accumulated depreciation

10,172
(160)
10,012

150
(27)
123

139,867
(34,432)
105,435

109,498
(18,670)
90,828

985,095
(211,667)
773,428

619,163
(129,017)
490,146

5,293
(2,476)
2,817
905,011

5,294
(2,243)
3,051
584,148

Plant and equipment ﬁnanced - cost
Less: Accumulated depreciation

Plant and equipment - cost
Less: Accumulated depreciation

Tracked plant and equipment - valuation
Less: Accumulated depreciation

S

Reconciliations
Reconciliations of the written down values at the beginning and end of the current and previous ﬁnancial year are
set out below:
Land

Building

Plant &
equipment
ﬁnanced

$’000

$’000

$’000

13,319
13,319

150
(27)
123
10,022
(133)
10,012

55,019
44,325
(8,516)
90,828
30,369
(15,762)
105,435

Notes to the
Financials

Consolidated

Balance at 1 July 2011
Additions
Additions through acquisition
Disposals
Depreciation expense
Balance at 30 June 2012
Additions
Disposals
Transfers in/(out)
Depreciation expense
Balance at 30 June 2013

Plant
&
equipment

261,849
277,110
1,519
(4,498)
(45,834)
490,146
365,237
(1,476)
2,171
(82,650)
773,428

Tracked
plant
&
equipment

Total

$’000

$’000

2,476
1,536
(961)
3,051
(234)
2,817

319,344
323,121
1,519
(4,498)
(55,338)
584,148
418,947
(1,476)
2,171
(98,779)
905,011

Asset in the course of construction
The carrying amounts of the assets disclosed above includes $182,584,000 (2012:$195,861,000) recognised in
relation to plant and equipment in the course of construction.
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NOTE 18. NON-CURRENT ASSETS - INTANGIBLES
Consolidated
30 June 2013
$’000

30 June 2012
$’000

Goodwill cost

10,235
10,235

10,235
10,235

Patents cost

10,984
10,984

10,984
10,984

Port access cost
Less: Accumulated amortisation

48,287
(2,336)
45,951

49,399
(923)
48,476

Operating lease cost
Less: Accumulated amortisation

7,038
(1,408)
5,630

7,038
(704)
6,334

Software - at cost
Less: Accumulated amortisation

66
(17)
49
72,849

76,029

Reconciliations
Reconciliations of the written down values at the beginning and end of the current and previous ﬁnancial year are
set out below:
Consolidated

Patents

Port
access

Operating
lease

Software

Total

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

10,235
10,235
10,235

10,984
10,984
10,984

15,767
33,632
(923)
48,476
1,059
(2,171)
(1,413)
45,951

7,038
(704)
6,334
(704)
5,630

66
(17)
49

44,024
33,632
(1,627)
76,029
1,125
(2,171)
(2,134)
72,849

Notes to the
Financials

Balance at 1 July 2011
Additions
Amortisation expense
Balance at 30 June 2012
Additions
Transfers in/(out)
Amortisation expense
Balance at 30 June 2013

Goodwill

Impairment testing
The following cash generating units have signiﬁcant carrying amounts of goodwill:
Consolidated
30 June 2013
$’000
PIHA Pty Ltd
Process Minerals International Pty Ltd

8,817
1,418
10,235

30 June 2012
$’000
8,817
1,418
10,235

The recoverable amount of the cash generating unit is based on value-in-use calculations. The calculations use
cash ﬂow projections based on the following year’s budget and plan, extended over a period of ﬁve years. Cash ﬂows
into perpetuity are extrapolated using a growth factor relevant to the sector and business plan. A pre-tax discount
rate is applied adjusted for the risk of the industry in which each unit operates.
Goodwill has an indeﬁnite life.
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NOTE 18. NON-CURRENT ASSETS - INTANGIBLES (CONTINUED)
Impairment disclosures
The recoverable amount of each cash generating unit above is determined based on value-in-use calculations.
Value-in-use is calculated based on the present value of cash ﬂow projections over a ﬁve-year period. The cash
ﬂows are discounted using the target weighted average cost of capital for the Consolidated Entity.
The following assumptions were used in the value-in-use calculations:
Discount rate - 12.1% (2012: 9.0%)
Growth rate of cash ﬂows - 2.5% (2012: nil)
Management has based the value-in-use calculations on budgets for each cash generating unit. These budgets
use historical weighted average growth rates to project revenue. Costs are calculated taking into account historical
gross margins as well as estimated weighted average inﬂation rates over the period which is consistent with
inﬂation rates applicable to the locations in which the segments operate. Discount rates are pre-tax and are
adjusted to incorporate risks associated with a particular cash generating unit.

NOTE 19. NON-CURRENT ASSETS - EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION & DEVELOPMENT
Consolidated
30 June 2012
$’000

Exploration and evaluation expenditure

301,875
301,875

297,882
297,882

Development expenditure
Less: Accumulated amortisation

139,896
(37,903)
101,993
403,868

113,965
(11,757)
102,208
400,090

S

30 June 2013
$’000

Reconciliations
Notes to the
Financials

Reconciliations of the written down values at the beginning and end of the current and previous ﬁnancial year are
set out below:
Consolidated

Balance at 1 July 2011
Additions
Additions through acquisitions
Transfers in/(out)
Amortisation expense
Balance at 30 June 2012
Additions
Write off of assets
Transfers in/(out)
Amortisation expense
Balance at 30 June 2013
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Exploration
and evaluation

Development

Total

$’000

$’000

$’000

262,924
54,885
78,609
(98,536)
297,882
15,863
(14)
(11,856)
301,875

15,429
98,536
(11,757)
102,208
14,074
11,856
(26,145)
101,993

262,924
70,314
78,609
(11,757)
400,090
29,937
(14)
(26,145)
403,868

For the year ended 30 June 2013

Notes to the Financial Statements
NOTE 20. NON-CURRENT ASSETS - DEFERRED TAX
Consolidated
30 June 2013
$’000

30 June 2012
$’000

Deferred tax asset comprises temporary differences attributable to:
Amounts recognised in proﬁt or loss:
Tax losses
Impairment of receivables
Employee beneﬁts
Mineral Resource Rent Tax
Financial assets
Provisions
Borrowings
Other
Deferred tax asset

5,994
925
1,839
65,162
8,703
28
679
83,330

8,152
470
1,022
65,162
1,020
6,633
118
1,127
83,704

Movements:
Opening balance
Credited/(charged) to proﬁt or loss (note 8)
Charged to equity
Under/(over) provision from prior year
Closing balance

83,704
(3,129)
(863)
3,618
83,330

24,386
62,775
(1,193)
(2,264)
83,704

NOTE 21. CURRENT LIABILITIES - TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
Consolidated
30 June 2012
$’000

164,510
38,585
203,095

158,121
4,253
162,374

Notes to the
Financials

Trade payables and accruals
Amount due to customers (Note 10)

30 June 2013
$’000

Refer to note 33 for further information on ﬁnancial instruments.

NOTE 22. CURRENT LIABILITIES - BORROWINGS
Consolidated
30 June 2013
$’000
Bank loans
Lease liability

40,000
40,376
80,376

30 June 2012
$’000
194
34,560
34,754

Refer to note 26 for further information on assets pledged as security and ﬁnancing arrangements and note 33 for
further information on ﬁnancial instruments.
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NOTE 23. CURRENT LIABILITIES - FINANCIAL LIABILITIES VALUE AT FAIR THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS
Consolidated
30 June 2013
$’000
Financial liabilities at fair value through proﬁt or loss

30 June 2012
$’000

387

-

Refer to note 33 for further information on ﬁnancial instruments.
The Consolidated Entity has entered into forward exchange contracts which are economic hedges but do not satisfy
the requirements for hedge accounting. These contracts are accounted for as held for trading. Changes in the fair
value of these contracts are recorded in the statement of comprehensive income. Fair value of shares in listed
companies is determined by the closing price on the reporting date.

NOTE 24. CURRENT LIABILITIES - INCOME TAX
Consolidated
30 June 2013
$’000
Income tax payable

30 June 2012
$’000

6,635

4,985

NOTE 25. CURRENT LIABILITIES - PROVISIONS
Consolidated
30 June 2013
$’000

S

Employee entitlements
Warranties
Project closure

13,742
240
2,415
16,397

30 June 2012
$’000
11,902
1,726
13,628

Notes to the
Financials

Warranties
Provision is made in respect of the Consolidated Entity’s estimated liability on all products are services under
warranty at reporting date. The provision is measured as the present value of future cash ﬂows estimated to be
required to settle warranty obligation. The future cash ﬂows are estimated by reference to the Consolidated Entity’s
history of warranty claims.

Project Closure
At the completion of some projects the Consolidated Entity has a liability for redundancy and the cost of relocating
crushing and other mobile plant. An assessment is undertaken on the probability that such expenses will be
incurred in the normal business of contracting services and is provided for in the ﬁnancial statements.

Movements in provisions
Movements in each class of provision during the current ﬁnancial year, other than employee beneﬁts, are set out below:
Consolidated

Carrying amount at the start of the year
Additional provisions recognised
Carrying amount at the end of the year
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Warranties

Project closure

$’000

$’000

240
240

1,726
689
2,415

For the year ended 30 June 2013

Notes to the Financial Statements
NOTE 26. NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES - BORROWINGS
Consolidated
30 June 2013
$’000

30 June 2012
$’000

228,968
58,774

112,864
39,457

287,742

152,321

Bank loans
Lease liability

Refer to note 33 for further information on ﬁnancial instruments.

Total secured liabilities
The total secured liabilities (current and non-current) are as follows:
Consolidated
30 June 2013
$’000

30 June 2012
$’000

268,968
99,150
368,118

113,058
74,017
187,075

Bank loans
Lease liability

Assets pledged as security
The bank overdraft and loans are secured by
• General Security Agreements over the whole of the assets and undertakings of Mineral Resources Ltd, Crushing
Services International Pty Ltd, Process Minerals International Pty Ltd, Polaris Metals Pty Ltd, PIHA Pty Ltd and
Auvex Resources Pty Ltd;
• Negative pledges with respect to ﬁnancial covenants; and
• Interlocking guarantees
The lease liabilities are effectively secured as the rights to the leased assets, recognised in the statement of
ﬁnancial position, revert to the lessor in the event of default.

Notes to the
Financials

Financing arrangements
Unrestricted access was available at the reporting date to the following lines of credit:
Consolidated

Total facilities
Bank overdraft
Bank loans
Lease liability

Used at the reporting date
Bank overdraft
Bank loans
Lease liability
Unused at the reporting date
Bank overdraft
Bank loans
Lease liability

30 June 2013
$’000

30 June 2012
$’000

3,600
339,000
100,000
442,600

3,600
133,404
140,750
277,754

268,968
99,150
368,118

113,058
74,017
187,075

3,600
70,032
850
74,482

3,600
20,346
66,733
90,679
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NOTE 27. NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES - DEFERRED TAX
Consolidated
30 June 2013
$’000

30 June 2012
$’000

Amounts recognised in proﬁt or loss:
Trade and other receivables
Property, plant and equipment
Exploration and evaluation
Deferred tax liability

5,595
47,436
126,307
179,338

2,346
18,339
121,077
141,762

Movements:
Opening balance
Charged to proﬁt or loss (note 8)
Credited to equity
Additions through acquisitions
Under-provision from prior year
Closing balance

141,762
23,754
(305)
14,127
179,338

102,503
14,313
(930)
24,651
1,225
141,762

Deferred tax liability comprises temporary differences attributable to:

NOTE 28. NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES - PROVISIONS
Consolidated
30 June 2013
$’000

Notes to the
Financials

S

Employee entitlements
Project closure
Site rehabilitation

117
6,795
5,811
12,723

30 June 2012
$’000
125
3,368
5,861
9,354

Site Rehabilitation
In accordance with the Consolidated Entity’s legal requirements, provision is made for the anticipated costs of future
restoration and rehabilitation of areas from which natural resources have been extracted. The provision includes
costs associated with dismantling of assets, reclamation, plant closure, waste site closure, monitoring, demolition
and decontamination. The provision is based upon current costs and has been determined on a discounted basis
with reference to current legal requirements and current technology.
Each period the impact of unwinding of the discount is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income as a
ﬁnancing cost. Any change in the restoration provision is recorded against the carrying value of the provision and
the related asset, only to the extent that it is probable that future economic beneﬁts associated with the restoration
expenditure will ﬂow to the entity, with the effect being recognised in the statement of comprehensive income on
a prospective basis over the remaining life of the relevant operation. The restoration provision is separated into
current (estimated costs arising within 12 months) and non-current components based on the expected timing of
these cash ﬂows.

Project Closure
At the completion of some projects the Consolidated Entity has a liability for redundancy and the cost of relocating
crushing and other mobile plant. An assessment is undertaken on the probability that such expenses will be
incurred in the normal business of contracting services and is provided for in the ﬁnancial statements.
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NOTE 28. NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES - PROVISIONS (CONTINUED)
Movements in provisions
Movements in each class of provision during the current ﬁnancial year, other than employee beneﬁts, are set out below:
Consolidated

Carrying amount at the start of the year
Additional provisions recognised
Amounts used
Carrying amount at the end of the year

Project
closure

Site
rehabilitation

$’000

$’000

3,368
3,427
6,795

5,861
(50)
5,811

NOTE 29. EQUITY - ISSUED CAPITAL
Consolidated
30 June 2013
Shares
Ordinary shares

185,987,992

30 June 2012
Shares
184,856,018

Consolidated
30 June 2013
$’000

30 June 2012
$’000

490,562

484,739

Issue price

$’000

Movements in ordinary share capital
Details

1 July 2011

30 June 2012

30 June 2013

No of shares

169,168,017
493,350

$1.91

359,619
944

340,000

$5.54

1,885

10,000,000

$6.05

60,500

4,500,000
354,651

$12.39
$11.00

55,737
3,902

184,856,018
570,900
561,074
185,987,992

$2.11
$8.92

Notes to the
Financials

Balance
Employee share options exercised
Unlisted share options exercised by recipients of
consideration for acquisition of Polaris Metals NL
Unlisted share options exercised by Hancock
Prospecting Pty Ltd
Share issued for acquisition of Auvex Resources
Limited
Share issued for dividend reinvestment
Shares issued to director as part of the package
approved by Shareholders on 19 November 2009
Employee share trust contributions
Balance
Employee share options exercised
Share issued for dividend reinvestment
Employee share trust contribution
Balance

Date

3,345
(1,193)
484,739
1,203
5,005
(385)
490,562

Ordinary shares
Ordinary shares entitle the holder to participate in dividends and the proceeds on the winding up of the Company in
proportion to the number of and amounts paid on the shares held. The fully paid ordinary shares have no par value
and the Company does not have a limited amount of authorised capital.
On a show of hands every member present at a meeting in person or by proxy shall have one vote and upon a poll
each share shall have one vote.

Share buy-back
There is no current on-market share buy-back.
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NOTE 29. EQUITY - ISSUED CAPITAL (CONTINUED)
Capital risk management
The Consolidated Entity’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard its ability to continue as a going
concern, so that it can provide returns for shareholders and beneﬁts for other stakeholders and to maintain an
optimum capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.
In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Consolidated Entity may adjust the amount of dividends paid
to shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.
The Consolidated Entity would look to raise capital when an opportunity to invest in a business or Company
was seen as value adding relative to the current Parent Entity’s share price at the time of the investment. The
Consolidated Entity is not actively pursuing additional investments in the short term as it continues to integrate and
grow its existing businesses in order to maximise synergies.
The Consolidated Entity is subject to certain ﬁnancing arrangements covenants and meeting these is given priority
in all capital risk management decisions. There have been no events of default on the ﬁnancing arrangements
during the ﬁnancial year.
The capital risk management policy remains unchanged from the 2012 Annual Report.
The Consolidated Entity monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This ratio is calculated as net debt
divided by total capital. Net debt is calculated as total borrowings less ‘cash and cash equivalents’ as shown in the
statement of ﬁnancial position. Total capital is calculated as ‘total equity’ as shown in the statement of ﬁnancial
position (including non-controlling interest) plus net debt.
The gearing ratio at the reporting date was as follows:
Consolidated

Notes to the
Financials

S

Current liabilities - borrowings (note 22)
Non-current liabilities - borrowings (note 26)
Total borrowings
Current assets - cash and cash equivalents (note 9)
Net debt
Total equity
Total capital
Gearing ratio - actual
Gearing ratio - target

30 June 2013
$’000

30 June 2012
$’000

80,376
287,742
368,118
(57,832)
310,286
1,017,740
1,328,026

34,754
152,321
187,075
(76,282)
110,793
916,751
1,027,544

23%
25%

11%
25%

NOTE 30. EQUITY - RETAINED PROFITS
Consolidated

Retained proﬁts at the beginning of the ﬁnancial year
Proﬁt after income tax (expense)/beneﬁt for the year
Dividends paid (note 32)
Retained proﬁts at the end of the ﬁnancial year

30 June 2013
$’000

30 June 2012
$’000

405,109
181,295
(85,221)
501,183

242,104
242,204
(79,199)
405,109

NOTE 31. EQUITY - NON-CONTROLLING INTEREST
Consolidated
30 June 2013
$’000
Interest in retained proﬁts
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20,014

30 June 2012
$’000
20,891
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Notes to the Financial Statements
NOTE 32. EQUITY - DIVIDENDS
Dividends
Consolidated
30 June 2013
$’000
Final dividend for the year ended 30 June 2012 (2012: 30 June 2011) of 30 cents (2012:
27.0 cents) per ordinary share fully franked at a tax rate of 30% paid on 26 October 2012
(2012: 20 October 2011)
Interim dividend for the year ended 30 June 2013 (2012: 30 June 2012) of 16 cents (2012:
16 cents) per ordinary share fully franked at a tax rate of 30% paid on 11 April 2013 (2012: 5
April 2012)

30 June 2012
$’000

55,457

49,647

29,764
85,221

29,552
79,199

On 15 August 2013, the directors declared a ﬁnal dividend for the year ended 30 June 2013 of 32 cents per ordinary
share to be paid on 25 October 2013, a total estimated distribution of $59,516,000 based on the number of ordinary
shares on issue as at 15 August 2013.

Franking credits
Consolidated
30 June 2013
$’000
Franking credits available for subsequent ﬁnancial years based on a tax rate of 30%

8,248

30 June 2012
$’000
37,654

The above amounts represent the balance of the franking account as at the end of the ﬁnancial year, adjusted for:
•
•
•

franking credits that will arise from the payment of the amount of the provision for income tax at the reporting date
franking debits that will arise from the payment of dividends recognised as a liability at the reporting date
franking credits that will arise from the receipt of dividends recognised as receivables at the reporting date

NOTE 33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
Notes to the
Financials

The Consolidated Entity’s activities expose it to a variety of ﬁnancial risks: market risk (including foreign
currency risk, price risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Consolidated Entity’s overall
risk management program focuses on the unpredictability of ﬁnancial markets and seeks to minimise potential
adverse effects on the ﬁnancial performance of the Consolidated Entity. The Consolidated Entity uses derivative
ﬁnancial instruments such as forward foreign exchange contracts to hedge certain risk exposures. Derivatives are
exclusively used for hedging purposes, i.e. not as trading or other speculative instruments. The Consolidated Entity
uses different methods to measure different types of risk to which it is exposed. These methods include sensitivity
analysis in the case of interest rate, foreign exchange and other price risks, ageing analysis for credit risk and beta
analysis in respect of investment portfolios to determine market risk.
Risk management is carried out by senior ﬁnance executives (‘ﬁnance’) under policies approved by the Board of
Directors (‘the Board’). These policies include identiﬁcation and analysis of the risk exposure of the Consolidated
Entity and appropriate procedures, controls and risk limits. Finance identiﬁes, evaluates and hedges ﬁnancial risks
within the Consolidated Entity’s operating units. Finance reports to the Board on a monthly basis.

MARKET RISK
Foreign currency risk
The Consolidated Entity undertakes certain transactions denominated in foreign currency and are exposed to
foreign currency risk through foreign exchange rate ﬂuctuations.
Foreign exchange risk arises from future commercial transactions and recognised ﬁnancial assets and ﬁnancial
liabilities denominated in a currency that is not the entity’s functional currency. The risk is measured using
sensitivity analysis and cash ﬂow forecasting.
The Consolidated Entity enters into forward exchange contracts to buy and sell speciﬁed amounts of foreign
currencies in the future at stipulated exchange rates. The objective in entering the forward exchange contracts
is to protect the Consolidated Entity against unfavourable exchange rate movements for both the contracted and
anticipated future sales undertaken in foreign currencies.
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NOTE 33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
The maturity, settlement amounts and the average contractual exchange rates of the Consolidated Entity’s
outstanding forward foreign exchange contracts at the reporting date was as follows:
Sell Australian dollars

Buy US dollars
Maturity:
0 - 3 months

30 June 2013

30 June 2012

$’000

$’000

4,888

3,814

Average exchange rates
30 June 2013

30 June 2012

1.0271

1.0489

The carrying amount of the Consolidated Entity’s foreign currency denominated ﬁnancial assets and ﬁnancial
liabilities at the reporting date was as follows:
Assets

Consolidated
US dollars

Liabilities

30 June 2013
$’000

30 June 2012
$’000

30 June 2013
$’000

30 June 2012
$’000

57,506

37,933

815

733

The Consolidated Entity had net assets denominated in foreign currencies of $56,691,000 (assets $57,506,000 less
liabilities $815,000) as at 30 June 2013. (2012: $37,200,000 (assets $37,933,000 less liabilities $733,000)). Based on
this exposure, had the Australian dollar weakened by 5%/strengthened by 5% (2012: weakened by 5%/strengthened
by 5%) against these foreign currencies with all other variables held constant, the Consolidated Entity’s proﬁt before
tax for the year would have been $2,835,000 lower/$2,835,000 higher (2012: $1,933,000 lower/$1,933,000 higher).

Price risk

Notes to the
Financials

S

The Consolidated Entity is exposed to commodity price risk which arises from iron ore held as inventory.
The policy of the Consolidated Entity is to sell iron ore at contracted price and spot price. It has not entered into any
hedging contracts. The Consolidated Entity’s revenues were exposed to ﬂuctuation in the price of iron ore. If the
average selling price of iron ore of $107.26 (2012: $108.93) for the ﬁnancial year had increased/decreased by 10%
the change in the proﬁt before income tax for Mining Segment would have been an increase /decrease of $2,953,700
(2012: $3,708,900).
If there was a 10% increase or decrease in market price of iron ore, the net realisable value of inventory on hand
would increase/(decrease) by $2,506,000 (2012: $3,043,000). As iron ore on hand is held at cost there would be no
impact on proﬁt or loss.

Interest rate risk
The Consolidated Entity’s main interest rate risk arises from long-term borrowings. Borrowings issued at variable
rates expose the Consolidated Entity to interest rate risk. Borrowings issued at ﬁxed rates expose the Consolidated
Entity to fair value interest rate risk.
As at the reporting date, the Consolidated Entity is exposed to interest rate risk as follows:
30 June 2013
Weighted
average
interest rate
%
Consolidated
Cash and cash equivalents
Interest bearing liabilities - variable
Net exposure to cash ﬂow interest rate risk

2.12
6.42

Balance
$’000

57,832
268,968
326,800

30 June 2012
Weighted
average
interest rate
%
2.13
6.86

Balance
$’000

76,282
112,864
189,340

An analysis by remaining contractual maturities in shown in ‘liquidity and interest rate risk management’ below.
The Consolidated Entity has considered sensitivity relating to exposure to interest rate risk at reporting date. An
ofﬁcial increase/decrease in interest rate of 100 (2012:100) basis points would have an adverse/favourable effect on
the proﬁt before tax of $1,225,000 (2012: $395,000) per annum.
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NOTE 33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
Credit risk
Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in ﬁnancial loss to
the Consolidated Entity. The Consolidated Entity has a strict code of credit, including obtaining agency credit information,
conﬁrming references and setting appropriate credit limits. The Consolidated Entity obtains guarantees where
appropriate to mitigate credit risk. The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date to recognised ﬁnancial
assets is the carrying amount, net of any provisions for impairment of those assets, as disclosed in the statement of
ﬁnancial position and notes to the ﬁnancial statements. The Consolidated Entity does not hold any collateral.
The Consolidated Entity’s exposure to ﬁnancial position credit risk are as indicated by the carrying amounts of its
ﬁnancial assets. The Consolidated Entity does not have a signiﬁcant exposure to any individual counterparty.

Liquidity risk
Vigilant liquidity risk management requires the Consolidated Entity to maintain sufﬁcient liquid assets (mainly cash and
cash equivalents) and available borrowing facilities to be able to pay debts as and when they become due and payable.
The Consolidated Entity manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate cash reserves and available borrowing
facilities by continuously monitoring actual and forecast cash ﬂows and matching the maturity proﬁles of ﬁnancial
assets and liabilities.

Financing arrangements
Unused borrowing facilities at the reporting date
Consolidated
30 June 2013
$’000
Bank overdraft
Bank loans
Lease liability

30 June 2012
$’000

3,600
70,032
1,855
75,487

3,600
20,346
66,733
90,679

The bank overdraft facilities may be drawn at any time and may be terminated by the bank without notice. Subject to
the continuance of satisfactory credit ratings, the bank loan facilities may be drawn at any time and have an average
maturity of 3 years. (2012: Between 1 and 3 years).

Notes to the
Financials

Remaining contractual maturities
The following tables detail the Consolidated Entity’s remaining contractual maturity for its ﬁnancial instrument
liabilities. The tables have been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash ﬂows of ﬁnancial liabilities based on the
earliest date on which the ﬁnancial liabilities are required to be paid. The tables include both interest and principal
cash ﬂows disclosed as remaining contractual maturities and therefore these totals may differ from their carrying
amount in the statement of ﬁnancial position.
Consolidated - 30 June 2013

Non-derivatives
Non-interest bearing
Trade payables
Other ﬁnancial liabilities

Interest-bearing - variable rate
Bank loans
Interest-bearing - ﬁxed rate
Lease liability
Total non-derivatives

Weighted
average
interest rate

1 year or
less

Between 1
and 5 years

Over 5 years

Remaining
contractual
maturities

%

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

-

203,095
387

-

-

203,095
387

6.42

40,000

228,968

-

268,968

5.67

40,376
283,854

58,774
287,742

-

98,146
570,596
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NOTE 33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
Consolidated - 30 June 2012

Weighted
average
interest rate

1 year or
less

Between 1
and 5 years

Over 5 years

Remaining
contractual
maturities

%

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

-

162,374

-

-

162,374

6.86

194

112,864

-

113,058

6.88

34,560
197,128

39,457
152,321

-

74,017
349,449

Non-derivatives
Non-interest bearing
Trade payables

Interest-bearing - ﬁxed
Bank loans
Interest-bearing - ﬁxed rate
Lease liability
Total non-derivatives

The cash ﬂows in the maturity analysis above are not expected to occur signiﬁcantly earlier than contractually
disclosed above.

FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
The following tables detail the Consolidated Entity’s fair values of ﬁnancial instruments categorised by the following levels:
Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities
Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either
directly (as prices) or indirectly (derived from prices)

S

Level 3: Inputs for the asset/or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs)
Consolidated - 30 June 2013

Notes to the
Financials

Assets
Available-for-sale ﬁnancial assets
Total assets
Liabilities
Financial liabilities at fair value through proﬁt or
loss
Total liabilities
Consolidated - 30 June 2012

Assets
Financial assets at fair value through proﬁt or loss
Available-for-sale ﬁnancial assets
Total assets

Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

Total

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

2,712
2,712

-

-

2,712
2,712

387
387

-

-

387
387

Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

Total

$’000

$’000

$’000

$’000

5
1,391
1,396

-

-

5
1,391
1,396

There were no transfers between levels during the ﬁnancial year.
Unless otherwise stated, the carrying amounts of ﬁnancial instruments reﬂect their fair value. The carrying
amounts of trade receivables and trade payables are assumed to approximate their fair values due to their shortterm nature. The fair value of ﬁnancial liabilities is estimated by discounting the remaining contractual maturities at
the current market interest rate that is available for similar ﬁnancial instruments.
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NOTE 34. KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL DISCLOSURES
Directors
The following persons were directors of Mineral Resources Limited during the ﬁnancial year:
Peter Wade
Chris Ellison
Joe Ricciardo
Mark Dutton
Kelvin Flynn

Non Executive Chairman
Managing Director
Non-Executive Director
Independent Non-Executive Director
Independent Non-Executive Director

Other key management personnel
The following persons also had the authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the major
activities of the Consolidated Entity, directly or indirectly, during the ﬁnancial year:
Bob Gavranich
David Geraghty
Bruce Goulds
Andrew Haslam
Jarrod Seymour
Steve Wyatt

General Manager, PIHA
Technical Director
Chief Financial Ofﬁcer and Company Secretary
General Manager, Iron Ore
Chief Operating Ofﬁcer
General Manager, Crushing Services International

Compensation
The aggregate compensation made to directors and other members of key management personnel of the
Consolidated Entity is set out below:
Consolidated

Short-term employee beneﬁts
Post-employment beneﬁts
Other statutory entitlements

30 June 2013
$

30 June 2012
$

6,516,090
202,285
265,028
6,983,403

4,665,602
266,861
4,932,463

Shareholding

30 June 2013*

Ordinary shares
Directors
P Wade
C Ellison
J Ricciardo
M Dutton
Other KMPs
B Gavranich
D Geraghty
B Goulds
S Wyatt

Balance at the
start of the year

Received as part of
remuneration

Additions

Disposals/
other

Notes to the
Financials

The number of shares in the Parent Entity held during the ﬁnancial year by each director and other members of key
management personnel of the Consolidated Entity, including their personally related parties, is set out below:
Balance at the end
of the year

1,416,162
27,000,000
1,529,989
15,000

-

38,000
-

-

1,416,162
27,038,000
1,529,989
15,000

5,106,595
1,474,799
300,000
9,057,344
45,899,989

-

200,000
238,000

(1,000,000)
(65,000)
(120,000)
(1,205,000)
(2,390,000)

4,106,595
1,609,799
180,000
7,852,344
43,747,889

* K Flynn, A Haslam and J Seymour did not hold any shares or options at any time of the year.
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NOTE 34. KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)
30 June 2012

Balance at the
start of the year

Ordinary shares
Directors
P Wade
C Ellison
J Ricciardo
M Dutton
Other KMPs
B Gavranich
D Geraghty
B Goulds
S Wyatt

Received as part of
remuneration

Additions

Disposals/
other

Balance at the end
of the year

3,416,162
30,447,815
1,947,870
500,000

-

-

(2,000,000)
(3,447,815)
(417,881)
(485,000)

1,416,162
27,000,000
1,529,989
15,000

6,754,420
1,439,799
300,000
11,757,344
56,563,410

-

200,000
200,000

(1,647,825)
(165,000)
(2,700,000)
(9,063,521)

5,106,595
1,474,799
300,000
9,057,344
45,899,989

Option holding
The number of options over ordinary shares in the Parent Entity held during the ﬁnancial year by each director and
other members of key management personnel of the Consolidated Entity, including their personally related parties,
is set out below:
30 June 2013

S

Options over ordinary shares
D Geraghty

Notes to the
Financials

30 June 2012

Options over ordinary shares
D Geraghty

Balance at
the start of
the year

Granted

200,000
200,000
Balance at
the start of
the year

Exercised

-

(200,000)
(200,000)
Exercised

Granted

400,000
400,000

-

Expired/
forfeited/
other

Balance at
the end of
the year
Balance at
the end of
the year

Expired/
forfeited/
other

(200,000)
(200,000)

-

-

200,000
200,000

NOTE 35. REMUNERATION OF AUDITORS
During the ﬁnancial year the following fees were paid or payable for services provided by RSM Bird Cameron
Partners, the auditor of the Company:
Consolidated

Audit services - RSM Bird Cameron Partners
Audit or review of the ﬁnancial statements
Other services - RSM Bird Cameron
Taxation services
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30 June 2013
$

30 June 2012
$

407,250

361,000

403,936
811,186

260,385
621,385

For the year ended 30 June 2013
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NOTE 36. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
The Consolidated Entity has provided guarantee to third parties in relation to performance of contracts and against
warranty obligations for a defects liability period after completion of the work. Defects liability periods are usually
from 12 to 18 months duration. Bank guarantees are issued as security for these obligations.
Consolidated

Bank guarantee facility
Amount utilised
Unused facility

30 June 2013
$’000

30 June 2012
$’000

236,000
(39,553)
196,447

27,676
(14,356)
13,320

On 30 July 2013, the Company has elected a Voluntary Reduction in the guarantee facility amounting to $136,000,000
with an effective date 6 August 2013.

NOTE 37. COMMITMENTS
Consolidated
30 June 2013
$’000

Capital commitments - Property, plant and equipment
Committed at the reporting date but not recognised as liabilities, payable:
Within one year
One to ﬁve years

30 June 2012
$’000

27,527
31,234
58,761

82,308
82,308

Consolidated
30 June 2013
$’000

Lease commitments - ﬁnance
Committed at the reporting date and recognised as liabilities, payable:
Within one year
One to ﬁve years
Total commitment
Less: Future ﬁnance charges
Net commitment recognised as liabilities
Representing:
Lease liability - current (note 22)
Lease liability - non-current (note 26)
Exploration expenditure commitments
Committed at the reporting date but not recognised as liabilities, payable:
Within one year
One to ﬁve years
More than ﬁve years

4,650
9,082
13,732

2,433
3,813
6,246

45,181
62,656
107,837
(8,687)
99,150

38,596
42,150
80,746
(6,729)
74,017

40,376
58,774
99,150

34,560
39,457
74,017

2,398
14,339
7,415
24,152

4,188
8,955
17,118
30,261

Notes to the
Financials

Lease commitments - operating
Committed at the reporting date but not recognised as liabilities, payable:
Within one year
One to ﬁve years

30 June 2012
$’000

Operating lease commitments includes contracted amounts for various retail outlets, warehouses, ofﬁces and
plant and equipment under non-cancellable operating leases expiring within one to ﬁve years with, in some cases,
options to extend. The leases have various escalation clauses. On renewal, the terms of the leases are renegotiated.
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NOTE 38. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Parent Entity
Mineral Resources Limited is the Parent Entity.

Subsidiaries
Interests in subsidiaries are set out in note 40.

Associates
Interests in associates are set out in note 41.

Key management personnel
Disclosures relating to key management personnel are set out in note 34 and the remuneration report in the
directors’ report.

Transactions with related parties
The following transactions occurred with related parties:
Consolidated
30 June 2013
$

(880,283)

(3,518,000)

(935,468)

(1,861,000)

21,499,495

23,911,000

(876,025)

(1,527,000)

S

Other transactions:
Certain engineering services were provided by GR Engineering Services Limited, a
Company related to Joe Ricciardo
Certain crushing and engineering services were provided by Global Advanced Metals Pty
Ltd (formerly Talison Tantalum Pty Ltd), a Company related to Kelvin Flynn
Certain crushing and engineering services were provided to Global Advanced Metals Pty
Ltd (formerly Talison Tantalum Pty Ltd), a Company related to Kelvin Flynn
Properties from which the Consolidated Entity’s operations are performed are rented
from parties related to Chris Ellison and Peter Wade

30 June 2012
$

Receivable from and payable to related parties
The following balances are outstanding at the reporting date in relation to transactions with related parties:

Notes to the
Financials

Consolidated
30 June 2013
$
Current receivables:
Trade receivables from Sandini Pty Ltd, a Company associated with Chris Ellison, a
director

30 June 2012
$

12,380

20,000

-

238,000

Current payables:
Trade payables to GR Engineering Services Limited, a Company associated with Joe
Ricciardo, a director

Loans to/from related parties
There were no loans to or from related parties at the current and previous reporting date.

Terms and conditions
All transactions were made on normal commercial terms and conditions and at market rates.

NOTE 39. PARENT ENTITY INFORMATION
Set out below is the supplementary information about the Parent Entity.

Statement of proﬁt or loss and other comprehensive income
Parent
30 June 2013
$’000
Loss after income tax
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(7,048)

30 June 2012
$’000
(10,523)

For the year ended 30 June 2013
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NOTE 39. PARENT ENTITY INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
Parent
30 June 2013
$’000

30 June 2012
$’000

Statement of ﬁnancial position
Total current assets

186,064

184,655

Total assets

660,600

541,096

80,180

14,793

Total liabilities

330,159

124,204

Net assets

330,441

416,892

490,562
(160,121)
330,441

484,739
(67,847)
416,892

Total current liabilities

Equity
Issued capital
Accumulated losses
Total equity

Guarantees entered into by the Parent Entity in relation to the debts of its subsidiaries
The Parent Entity had provided guarantees in relation to the debts of its subsidiaries as at 30 June 2013 and 30 June 2012.

Contingent liabilities
The Parent Entity had no contingent liabilities as at 30 June 2013 and 30 June 2012.

Capital commitments - Property, plant and equipment
The Parent Entity had no capital commitments for property, plant and equipment at as 30 June 2013 and 30 June 2012.

Signiﬁcant accounting policies

•
•
•

Notes to the
Financials

The accounting policies of the Parent Entity are consistent with those of the Consolidated Entity, as disclosed in
note 2, except for the following:
Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost, less any impairment, in the Parent Entity.
Investments in associates are accounted for at cost, less any impairment, in the Parent Entity.
Dividends received from subsidiaries are recognised as other income by the Parent Entity and its receipt may be
an indicator of an impairment of the investment.

NOTE 40. SUBSIDIARIES
The consolidated ﬁnancial statements incorporate the assets, liabilities and results of the following subsidiaries in
accordance with the accounting policy described in note 2:
Equity holding
Name of entity

Country of
incorporation

30 June 2013
%

30 June 2012
%

Crushing Services International Pty Ltd

Australia

100.00

100.00

Eclipse Minerals Pty Ltd

Australia

100.00

100.00

HiTec Energy Pty Ltd

Australia

64.91

64.23

Mesa Minerals Limited

Australia

64.91

64.23

PIHA Pty Ltd

Australia

100.00

100.00

Polaris Metals Pty Ltd

Australia

100.00

100.00

Process Minerals International Pty Ltd

Australia

100.00

100.00

Auvex Resources Pty Ltd

Australia

100.00

100.00

MRL (Equipment) Pty Ltd

Australia

100.00

-

PIHA (Water) Pty Ltd

Australia

100.00

-
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Notes to the Financial Statements
NOTE 41. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES
Interests in associates are accounted for using the equity method of accounting. Information relating to associates
is set out below:
Consolidated
Percentage interest
Associate
Minprocess Group Inc.
Iron Processing Group Inc.
Process Minerals International Pty Ltd Inc.

Principal activities
Mineral processing
Mineral processing
Mineral processing

30 June 2013
%

30 June 2012
%

40.00
40.00
40.00

40.00
40.00
40.00

NOTE 42. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
On 1 July 2013, the Company’s Mine Gate purchase agreement for the purchase of iron ore from Moly Mines
Limited’s Spinifex Ridge came into effect.
On 30 July 2013, the Company has elected a Voluntary Reduction in the guarantee facility amounting to $136,000,000
with an effective date 6 August 2013.
No other matter or circumstance has arisen since 30 June 2013 that has signiﬁcantly affected, or may signiﬁcantly
affect the Consolidated Entity’s operations, the results of those operations, or the Consolidated Entity’s state of
affairs in future ﬁnancial years.

NOTE 43. RECONCILIATION OF PROFIT AFTER INCOME TAX TO NET CASH FROM
OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Notes to the
Financials

S

Consolidated

78

30 June 2013
$’000

30 June 2012
$’000

Proﬁt after income tax (expense)/beneﬁt for the year

180,418

242,239

Adjustments for:
Depreciation and amortisation
Impairment
Net loss on disposal of non current assets

127,058
106

68,723
2,474
349

Change in operating assets and liabilities:
Increase in trade and other receivables
Increase in inventories
Decrease/(increase) in deferred tax assets
Decrease in ﬁnancial assets
Decrease/(increase) in other operating assets
Increase in trade and other payables
Increase in derivative liabilities
Increase/(decrease) in provision for income tax
Increase in deferred tax liabilities
Increase in other provisions
Net cash from operating activities

(53,075)
(8,568)
374
1,020
(4,125)
40,721
387
1,650
37,160
6,138
329,264

(34,811)
(47,721)
(60,511)
4,039
242
70,683
(21,290)
15,539
2,938
242,893
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Notes to the Financial Statements
NOTE 44. NON-CASH INVESTING AND FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Consolidated
30 June 2013
$’000
Acquisition of plant and equipment by means of ﬁnance leases

30 June 2012
$’000

30,369

44,325

NOTE 45. EARNINGS PER SHARE
Consolidated

Proﬁt after income tax
Non-controlling interest
Proﬁt after income tax attributable to the owners of Mineral Resources Limited

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in calculating basic earnings per share
Adjustments for calculation of diluted earnings per share:
Options over ordinary shares
Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in calculating diluted earnings per share

Basic earnings per share
Diluted earnings per share

30 June 2013
$’000

30 June 2012
$’000

180,418
877
181,295

242,239
(35)
242,204

Number
185,987,992

Number
183,078,826

200,000
186,187,992

1,718,113
184,796,939

Cents
97.48
97.37

Cents
132.29
131.06

NOTE 46. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

Mineral Resources Limited Annual Report 2013

Notes to the
Financials

A share option plan has been established by the Consolidated Entity and approved by shareholders at a general
meeting, whereby the Consolidated Entity may, at the discretion of the Remuneration Committee, grant options over
ordinary shares in the Parent Entity to certain key management personnel of the Consolidated Entity. The options
are issued for nil consideration and are granted in accordance with performance guidelines established by the
Remuneration Committee.
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Directors’ Declaration
In the directors’ opinion:
•
•
•
•

the attached ﬁnancial statements and notes thereto comply with the Corporations Act 2001, the Accounting
Standards, the Corporations Regulations 2001 and other mandatory professional reporting requirements;
the attached ﬁnancial statements and notes thereto comply with International Financial Reporting Standards as
issued by the International Accounting Standards Board as described in note 2 to the ﬁnancial statements;
the attached ﬁnancial statements and notes thereto give a true and fair view of the Consolidated Entity’s
ﬁnancial position as at 30 June 2013 and of its performance for the ﬁnancial year ended on that date; and
there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they
become due and payable.

The directors have been given the declarations required by section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001.
Signed in accordance with a resolution of directors made pursuant to section 295(5)(a) of the Corporations Act 2001.
On behalf of the directors

Chris Ellison
15 August 2013

Directors’
declaration

N
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Shareholder Information
The shareholder information set out below was applicable as at 18 September 2013.

DISTRIBUTION OF EQUITABLE SECURITIES
Analysis of number of equitable security holders by size of holding:
Number
on issue

Number
of holders

1 to

1,000

2,189,447

4,442

1,001 to

5,000

8,162,690

3,395

5,001 to 10,000

3,588,840

490

10,001 to 100,000

9,537,663

378

100,001 and over

Holding less than a marketable parcel

162,509,352

60

185,987,992

8,765

1,643

304

EQUITY SECURITY HOLDERS
Twenty largest quoted equity security holders
The names of the twenty largest security holders of quoted equity securities are listed below:
Ordinary shares
Number held

% of total
shares issued

Hsbc Custody Nominees (Australia) Limited

43,485,495

23.38

Sandini Pty Ltd

26,741,250

14.38

J P Morgan Nominees Australia Limited

22,306,850

11.99

National Nominees Limited

19,670,417

10.58

Citicorp Nominees Pty Limited

6,867,618

3.69

Henderson Park Pty Ltd

6,352,344

3.42

Keneric Nominees Pty Ltd

4,106,595

2.21

Rbc Investor Services Australia Nominees Pty Limited

3,981,570

2.14

Ubs Wealth Management Australia Nominees Pty Ltd

2,859,757

1.54

J P Morgan Nominees Australia Limited - Cash Income A/C

2,353,551

1.27

BNP Paribas Noms Pty Ltd

2,026,837

1.09

Ubs Nominees Pty Ltd

1,984,498

1.07

Amp Life Limited

1,718,219

0.92

P D Wade

1,416,162

0.76

D & C Geraghty Pty Ltd

1,267,487

0.68

Paksian Pty Ltd

1,179,989

0.63

Citicorp Nominees Pty Limited

1,165,572

0.63

Woodross Nominees Pty Ltd

1,151,787

0.62

CS Fourth Nominees Pty Ltd

973,473

0.52

Warbont Nominees Pty Ltd

752,463

0.40

152,361,934

81.92

Shareholder
Information
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Shareholder Information
Unquoted equity securities

Options issued under the Mineral Resources Limited employee share option
plan to take up ordinary shares

Number
on issue

Number
of holders

200,000

1

SUBSTANTIAL HOLDERS
Substantial holders in the company are set out below:
Ordinary shares
Number held

% of total
shares issued

RS Investment Management Co LLC

33,655,734

18.10

Sandini Pty Ltd and its related parties

27,038,000

14.54

Perpetual Limited and Subsidiaries

12,846,996

6.91

9,634,865

5.18

Allan Gray Australia Pty Ltd and its related bodies corporate

VOTING RIGHTS
The voting rights attached to ordinary shares are set out below:

Ordinary shares
On a show of hands every member present at a meeting in person or by proxy shall have one vote and upon a poll
each share shall have one vote.

Shareholder
Information

In
Au

Unlisted share options
Unlisted share options have no voting rights.
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MINERAL RESOURCES LIMITED
CORPORATE DIRECTORY
30 June 2013
Directors

Peter Wade
Chris Ellison
Joe Ricciardo
Mark Dutton
Kelvin Flynn

Company Secretary

Bruce Goulds

Registered ofﬁce

1 Sleat Road
Applecross WA 6153
P: + 61 8 9329 3600
F: + 61 8 9329 3601
Postal address: Locked Bag 3, Canning Bridge, Applecross WA 6153

Principal place of business 1 Sleat Road
Applecross WA 6153
Share register

Computershare Investor Services Pty Limited
Level 2, Reserve Bank Building
45 St Georges Terrace
Perth WA 6000
P: + 61 8 9323 2000
F: + 61 8 9322 2033
www-au.computershare.com

Auditor

RSM Bird Cameron Partners
8 St Georges Terrace
Perth WA 6000
P: + 61 8 9261 9100
F: + 61 8 9261 9111
www.rsmi.com.au

Bankers

National Australia Bank
100 St Georges Terrace
Perth WA 6000
www.nab.com.au

Stock exchange listing

Mineral Resources Limited shares are listed on the Australian Securities Exchange
(ASX code: MIN)

Website

www.mineralresources.com.au

Mineral Resources
ABN 33 118 549 910
1 Sleat Rd, Applecross, Western Australia 6153
P +61 8 9329 3600 F +61 8 9329 3601
www.mineralresources.com.au

